# South Dakota State University

# Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

2015

# Kidquest Childhood Obesity Prevention program: Analysis of Its Influence on health of Rural South Dakota 5th and 6th Grade Children

Nayef Bumaryoum South Dakota State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd

Part of the Community Health and Preventive Medicine Commons, Maternal and Child Health Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Bumaryoum, Nayef, "Kidquest Childhood Obesity Prevention program: Analysis of Its Influence on health of Rural South Dakota 5th and 6th Grade Children" (2015). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/1

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

# KIDQUEST CHILDHOOD OBESITY PREVENTION PROGRAM: ANALYSIS OF ITS INFLUENCE ON HEALTH OF RURAL SOUTH DAKOTA $5^{TH}$ AND $6^{TH}$ GRADE CHILDREN

BY

# NAYEF BUMARYOUM

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Doctor of Philosophy

Major in Biological Sciences

Specialization in Nutritional Sciences

South Dakota State University

2015

# KIDQUEST CHILDHOOD OBESITY PREVENTION PROGRAM: ANALYSIS OF ITS INFLUENCE ON HEALTH OF RURAL SOUTH DAKOTA 5<sup>TH</sup> AND 6<sup>TH</sup> GRADE CHILDREN

This dissertation is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree and is acceptable for meeting the dissertation requirements for this degree. Acceptance of this dissertation does not imply that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

C.Y. Wang, Ph.D. Dissertation and Primary Advisor	Date
Mathew Vukovich, Ph.D. FACSM Head Nutrition and Food Science	Date
Deah, Graduate School	Date

All the greatness and dignity for ALLAH subh'anahu Wa Ta'la (God to whom be ascribed all perfection and majesty) who is the creator of the whole world.

I would like to show my thankfulness towards Prophet MOHAMMAD and his family Ahlul-Bait (prayers and peace be upon THEM).

Also, this work dedicated to the memory of my grandmother (Shareefa Al-Sarraf), mother in law (Sayyeda Narjis Sayyed Mondani Sayyed Rajab), my father in law (AbdulAziz Shah) and my Grandfather (Yousif Bumaryoum).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many people helped me with the work I achieved in many ways and I really thank them all.

A very special thank you to my beloved advisor, Dr. Teri Kemmer, for her exclusive supervision, expertise, and encouragement on this dissertation. I would like to extent my deepest gratitude to the other two wonderful people with whom I've worked to produce, design, and arrange this dissertation, Dr. C.Y. Wang, Dr. Kendra Kattelmann, Dr. Howard Wey, and Dr. Teresa Seefeldt my dissertation committee members, for their dedicated guidance and support on my dissertation. A special thank you for Becky Jensen and Shoghig Sahakyan for their great support and guidance.

Where I am and what I have achieved so far, I dedicate to:

My MOTHER (Hajar Al-Jazzaf), whose prayer always saved me from all sorts of trouble. She supported me for my positive purpose, and her willpower which I definitely inherited. May Allah Keep Her Healthy and Safe from all harm.

My FATHER (Yacoub Bumaryoum), whose Honesty and goodwill Nature, I always aim to find in myself. He provided for my every need. May Allah Keep Him Healthy and Safe from all harm.

My LITTLE FAMILY in the USA including my lovely wife Hanan Shah and four awesome children Ali, Mohammad Mahdi, Salman, and Taiba for their patience, time, encouragement and support in completing this work.

All my FAMILY MEMBERS, who's encouragement keep my spirits high especially. Without my Friends help and their sincerity I was not able to make my way, they supported me wherever and whenever I needed it, especially the Department of Food and Nutrition – College of Health Sciences at PAAET in Kuwait.

Finally, ALL other people including undergraduate and graduate students from South Dakota State University and schools and administrators in South Dakota schools whose support, good wishes, prayers somehow and someway I received directly or indirectly.

Also, special thanks goes to the funding sources: USDA NIFA Competitive Grant 2011-67002-30202; SD Agricultural Experiment Station HATCH Grant SD00H249-08; and Obesity Research Group (SDSU-ORG) via an award from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC DP08EM-001).

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

vi

ABBREVIA	TIONSix
LIST OF TA	ABLESx
LIST OF FI	GURES
ABSTRACT	Гxii
Chapter 1	Introduction1
	Obesity Epidemic
	Statement of the Problem1
	Overall Objectives
	Overall Specific Aims
	Hypothesis
	Significance
Chapter 2	Review of the Literature
	Children and Obesity Worldwide4
	American Children and Obesity4
	Prevalence of Obesity Among South Dakota Children5
	Preliminary Studies of KidQuest5
	Social Cognitive Theory
	Eating Behaviors, Lifestyle and Dietary Intake Among American
	Children7
	High Fat Foods and Sweetened Food/Beverage Consumption
	Parent Involvement Needed in Interventions

	Cross-Age Teaching	12
	Peer Teaching	14
	Different Types of Instructors	15
	School-Based Nutrition/Physical Activity Programs	16
	Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors Among U.S. Children	19
	References	21
Chapter 3	The KidQuest Childhood Obesity Prevention Program: Efficacy on	
	Dietary Choices, Activity and Health Outcomes Among South Dak	ota 5th
	and 6th Graders	34
	Abstract	35
	Introduction	37
	Methodology	40
	Results	46
	Discussion	48
	Conclusion	50
	Implications for School Health	51
	References	58
Chapter 4	Effectiveness of KidQuest: Teen Teachers vs Supplemental Nutritie	on
	Assistance Program Education Teachers on Dietary and Health Out	tcomes
	for South Dakota School Children	65
	Abstract	66
	Introduction	67
	Methodology	69

Results	74
Discussion	77
Conclusions and Suggestions	79
Future Directions	79
References	86
Appendices	90
Appendix A KidQuest Youth Survey 2009-2010	90
Appendix B KidQuest Youth Survey 2010-2011	94
Appendix C KidQuest Youth Survey 2011-2012	

# ABBREVIATIONS

- (BMI) Body Mass Index
- (CVD) Cardiovascular Disease
- (DC) Dietary Choices
- (FCCLA) Family, Career, and Community Leaders of America
- (Hb) Hemoglobin
- (LND) Low Nutrient Dense
- (PA) Physical Activity
- (SCT) Social Cognitive Theory
- (SNAP) Supplemental Nutrition Assistant Program
- (TC) Total Cholesterol
- (TT) Teen Teachers

# LIST OF TABLES

Study 1	
Table 1 Outcome variables and cut off values	2
Table 2 KidQuest Curriculum Components	3
Table3. Characteristics of participants by group	4
Table 4 Characteristics of Participants at Baseline - Measurements for Control and    Intervention Groups	5
Table 5 Mean Value Changes from Baseline to Post-Intervention for Students in the    Control, Intervention Groups	6
Table 6 Comparison of the Dietary Intake Differences in Changes from Baseline to Post-       Intervention for Intervention and Control Groups	- 7
Study 2	
Table 1 Outcome variables and cut off values	0
Table 2 Characteristics of participants by teacher type	1
Table 3 Baseline Characteristics for Students Taught by TT and SNAP-ED Teachers8	2
Table 4 Mean Value Changes from Baseline to Post-Intervention for Students Taught byTT as compared to those Taught by SNAP-ED	3
Table 5 Change in Categorical Medical Variables from Baseline to 6 Months Post-    Intervention	4
Table 6 Change in Dietary Intake Between Teacher Groups from Baseline to Post-    Intervention	5

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Flow chart of the study 1 participants	102
Figure 2 Flow chart of the study 2 participants	

#### ABSTRACT

# KIDQUEST CHILDHOOD OBESITY PREVENTION PROGRAM: ANALYSIS OF ITS INFLUENCE ON HEALTH OF RURAL SOUTH DAKOTA 5<sup>TH</sup> AND 6<sup>TH</sup> GRADE CHILDREN NAYEF BUMARYOUM

2015

Obesity is a growing problem throughout the developed world. This project will focus on obesity in rural children by studying those living in an area of South Dakota. Research shows high levels of overweight and obese children in this demographic. The two major objectives of this study are to evaluate the efficacy of the KidQuest (KQ) nutrition and physical activity curriculum in reducing the proportion of children and adolescents who are overweight and obese within participating South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade children using baseline/post-intervention data and to determine which KQ teacher type is most effective as evaluated by anthropometric, biochemical, blood pressure, dietary choices.

The KQ program was shown to provide reinforcement for nutrition and physical education in the school setting. It was also able to help students practice healthy options and improved some of the health parameters that prevent childhood obesity. The Teen Teachers (TT) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistant Program (SNAP-ED) educators were proven to be an effective approach to improving the health outcomes of the children and adolescents; their students showed significant improvements among some health parameters and dietary choices (DC) that prevent childhood obesity.

### Chapter 1

## **INTRODUCTION**

## **Obesity Epidemic**

Increased energy intake from fats and sugars, along with a decline in physical activity, play a large role in the worldwide obesity epidemic according to World Health Organization (1). These changes toward poor diet and sedentary lifestyle are to blame for the global obesity epidemic among children and adolescents. The adverse health effects of obesity and being overweight are significant, even for children. Higher body mass index (BMI) is associated with a greater risk of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease (CVD), cancer, eating disorders and a variety of other co-morbidities before or during adulthood (1). However, because children are growing, their BMI assessments are based on specific BMI percentile ranges adapted for children and based on tables compiled by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), by age and by gender (2). KidQuest (KQ) was developed as a school/family-centered program to improve nutrition education and physical activity within 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade public school students with the goal of reducing the proportion of overweight and obese children and adolescents in this population (3).

## **Statement of the Problem**

• In the U.S., the prevalence of childhood and adolescent obesity has more than doubled in the past 30 years (4).

- To our knowledge, no studies in South Dakota and few in the U.S. and worldwide have evaluated the association between nutrition interventions and risk factors for CVD in adolescents.
- The teacher type has been an important factor in improving eating behaviors, anthropometrics and blood parameters among children in previous studies (5, 6); this study compares two types of KQ teachers; teen teachers (TT) with the Supplemental Nutrition Assistant Program - Educators (SNAP-ED) based on student outcomes.

## **Overall Objectives (purpose)**

- Evaluate the efficacy of the KQ nutrition curriculum in reducing the proportion of children who are overweight and obese within participating South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade children using baseline/post-intervention data.
- Determine KQ program efficacy as evaluated by changes in the adolescents' anthropometric, blood pressure (BP), biochemical parameters and dietary choices (DC) among some participating children since not all measures were collected for all waves.
- 3. Determine which KQ teacher type is most effective as evaluated by anthropometric, biochemical, BP and DC.

# **Overall Specific Aims**

Determine KQ efficacy through evaluation of baseline and post-program BP, lipid levels, hemoglobin (Hb), BMI, and DC questionnaires in reducing the proportion of children who are overweight and obese within South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade children.

# Hypotheses

- The changes (from baseline to 6 months post-intervention) in BP, lipid levels, hemoglobin (Hb), BMI and DC will be different between the control and intervention groups.
- The changes (from baseline to 6 months post-intervention) in DC, BMI, lipid levels, BP and Hb will be statistically significantly different between the two teacher type groups those taught by the TT and those taught by the SNAP-ED).

# Significance

- The study evaluates evidence on whether or not the KQ nutrition and physical activity program is effective in reducing overweight and obesity within South Dakota adolescents.
- 2. This study determines if the KQ program improves anthropometrics, blood parameters, BP and DC in adolescents living in rural South Dakota.
- 3. This study determines the most effective type of KQ teacher taught by the TT and the SNAP-ED for this age group.

#### Chapter 2

## **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### **Children and Obesity Worldwide**

Childhood obesity is a relatively new epidemic manifesting as children are becoming sedentary. Worldwide, the number of overweight or obese children under 5 years old is 42 million in 2013 (7) and it was estimated that by 2020, it was estimated that the childhood global overweight and obesity rate would be 60 million (8). From 1980-2013, overweight and obesity combined prevalence among children and adolescents rose 47.1%; consisted of 23.8% of boys and 22.6% of girls in developed countries in 2013, while developing countries were 12.9% for boys and 13.4% in girls (9). Even in an affluent country such as Kuwait, the overall prevalence of overweight/obese in intermediate school children was 30.7% and 14.6% (10).

#### **American Children and Obesity**

Data from the CDC and National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) reveal that the prevalence of obesity among U.S. children and adolescents between 2-19 years of age has increased dramatically from 1971 to 2011 (11). In 2012, the prevalence of overweight/obese among youth were 31.8%, 16.9% (12). However, obesity prevalence has been plateaued among women and specifically girls between (2-19 years) nonetheless of ethnicity (12), while in boys has continued to increased (12). Prevalence of obesity by race was highest among Mexican-American boys (24%); and among girls was highest among non-Hispanic-Blacks (22%) (13).

#### **Prevalence of Obesity Among South Dakota Children**

In 2013/2014, statistics from South Dakota Department of Health (SDDOH) showed that for children ages 9-11, 17.4% were overweight and 17.9% were obese and for children ages 12-14, 17.7% were overweight and 17.4% were obese (14). These levels are above the Healthy People 2020 target of 14.5% (15).

## **Preliminary Studies of KidQuest**

A study of the KQ curriculum with 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> graders (136 subjects) in rural South Dakota schools noted significant health improvements for intervention group (IG) students (3). The IG demonstrated greater improvement in breakfast frequency (P<0.05) compared to control counterparts. Dairy intake was also statistically significantly higher in the IG (P< 0.05). The frequency of reading food labels and increased nutrition knowledge was statistically significant (P< 0.05). No significant change was found in control subjects (3).

Another study of KQ titled "Evaluating Teen-taught KidQuest: A School Based Nutrition and Physical Activity for 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> Graders in Rural South Dakota" measured outcomes for 87 subjects at baseline and endpoint. The measures included BMI, waist circumference, total cholesterol (TC), high density lipoprotein (HDL), low density lipoprotein and triglycerides. Total cholesterol significantly decreased in the IG from preto post-test. The percentage of IG participants with normal cholesterol levels increased from 92% to 97%. Waist circumference decreased in the IG and increased in the control group (CG). Post intervention, BMI obesity percentages increased in the CG while they remained the same in the intervention. Sixty-five percent of the CG participants had normal HDL limits by the end of the study. Overall, students in the IG showed weight loss and healthier behaviors, while the CG exhibited little change (16). Moreover, other KQ studies found positive outcomes included significant decreased low density lipoprotein outcomes among IG (17); and parents of overweight and obese children were unaware about their children's weight status (18).

## **Social Cognitive Theory**

The KQ program is also based on Social Cognitive Theory (SCT), which involves observing others in different situations: within social interactions, through outside media influences and in experiences showing the individual's knowledge. People's behaviors are typically based on those behaviors for which they have been rewarded or punished. People also learn new behaviors based on others' experiences, not necessarily by succeeding or failing during their own attempts, but rather by replicating the actions of others. Social Cognitive Theory also affects community, intrapersonal and institutional levels (19). This theory supports the use of nutrition and physical activity intervention programs through applying public health issues and positive reinforcement among children (20-22).

A systematic review looked for the most effective behavioral strategies and models in school-based interventions for obesity prevention among children 4-6 years of age. They focused on educational programs lasting six months and longer where SCT was used. Their review found a significant change in one or more outcomes due to these programs. This study found that the most effective strategies include dietary instruction and physical activity, school-based teaching and parental involvement and long-term follow up (23).

#### Eating Behaviors, Lifestyle and Dietary Intake Among American Children

Recently, 2015 Dietary Guidelines for Americans are being established to promote healthy eating, physical activity and healthy lifestyle, which is supported through the Center for Nutrition Policy – United State Department of Agriculture (USDA) for all ages 2 years old and over including individuals with increasing risk of chronic diseases; These dietary guidelines updated every 5 years (24).

In a study by researchers using a 24-hour dietary recall method which included 4,852 children and adolescents between ages 8-18, food described as low-nutrient density (LND) was found to contribute more than 30% of the research group's daily energy (25). Daily intake from protein and dietary fiber was found to relate inversely to the reported number of LND foods. The authors wrote that the prevalence of such foods in the diets of the children and adolescents studied represented an alarming trend (25). Examples of these foods are candy, carbonated or non-carbonated beverages, desserts and energy-dense foods (25).

Other studies looked at the impact of fast-food consumption by U.S. Americans to assess the dietary profile associated with fast-food consumption. Researchers studied fast-food consumption by American children and adults to assess their dietary profile by collecting data from 17,370 participants during two non-consecutive 24-hour dietary recalls (26). Though more children than adults (42% to 37%) reported eating fast-food over the prior 24-hour period, both groups were found to have had higher intakes of energy, fat, saturated fat, sodium and carbonated soft drinks, along with lower intakes of vitamins A and C, milk, fruits and vegetables compared to those who did not report eating fast food over the same period p < 0.001 (26).

Researchers found that per-capita daily caloric contributions of sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB) jumped from 242 kcal/day between 1988 and 1994 to 270 kcal/day from 1999-2004; children and adolescents consumed 10-15% of their daily calories from these types of drinks (27). The highest jump in consumption was recorded among children from 6 to 11 years old. Interestingly, it was not soda drinks but fruit drinks that provided more than half the SSB calories consumed. The study discovered that up to 70% of the consumption of SSB took place at home, while just 7 to 15% took place in schools (27).

Children are not the only ones consuming dietary fructose. A study of such consumption among 21,483 American children and adults found that the mean consumption among both groups averaged 10.2% of their total daily calorie intake. This ranged between 38.4-72.8 g/day. Consumption was highest among adolescents aged 12-18 years at 72.8 g/day (12.1% of total calories). The danger with such consumption is that high fructose intake has been associated with liver problems, insulin resistance, triglycerides and obesity. While fructose naturally occurs in many fruits and vegetables, it is also added to many processed foods, especially as corn syrup (28).

## High Fat Foods and Sweetened Food/Beverage Consumption

Researchers evaluated the intake of sweetened beverages by 548 12-year olds in Texas (29). Results revealed that drinking sweetened beverages decreased the amount of milk children drank. The author theorized that drinking large amounts of such beverages could predispose individuals toward obesity, in that: (a) highly sweetened beverage intake triggers an elevated sugar metabolism; or (b) such energy intake is not satiating. Results shows that children who drank more than 16 ounces of sweetened beverages significantly gained more weight over two months than those who did not (29).

A study of 236 children in the Polish region (98), evaluated the impact of family socioeconomic factors on childhood obesity, eating habits, and the impact of low-energy diets chosen and accepted by the child/parent in relation to body mass in children. Researchers found that BMI decreased among children 7 to 15 years of age who curtailed the amount of sweets consumed daily. In other words, researchers found a positive correlation between good family eating habits and obesity in children aged 3 to 15 years. Dietary treatment significantly influenced the BMI of children and normalized the values of TC, low density lipoprotein and triglycerides (30).

Thailand has become industrialized since the late 20<sup>th</sup> century; this has resulted in increased availability of sugar-sweetened foods available to Thai children. Researchers studied the effect of this "junk food" on Thai children who snacked during the day (31). Within the study, snacks constituted about 20% of the country's food market and 86% of primary school children chose snacks of candy at least twice a day from village shops. When evaluating normal weight and undernourished pre-school children, the undernourished children who attended pre-school less often than the others ate fewer snacks; however, by the time subjects reached school age, their energy intake from snacks was nearly identical. Among both groups, milk and dairy products were left out of the diet when more snacks, mostly high sodium, were consumed. Results show that in both groups, children preferred crispy snacks between breakfast and lunch and that the nutrient consumption including protein, carbohydrates and fats were delivered from snacks and were significantly lower in undernourished children (31).

Researchers concluded that consuming SSB between meals is a significant risk factor in the toward childhood obesity (32). The study evaluated 2,103 pre-school children in Quebec. Overall, 17.2% of the participating children ages 2.5 to 4.5, 6.9% who consumed SSB between meals became overweight by age 4.5 years (32). A systemic review also searched through 40 years of publications, from 1966 through 2005, to determine whether a relationship existed between SSBs and the risk of weight gain (33). It was determined that increased consumption of SSBs is associated with weight gain and obesity among adolescents (33).

High-fat foods have been described as a non-nutrient dense (NND) snack (34). These NND foods typically include potato chips, candy and cookies. A study of 201 children in 3<sup>rd</sup> to 6<sup>th</sup> grade categorized them according to four snacking conditions: vegetable only, cheese only, potato chips only, cheese and vegetables. The study found that eating potato chips was significantly higher among those who did not consume cheese and vegetable snacks, while those eating healthy snacks reduced their consumption of extra calories. The children who ate a combined vegetable and cheese snack consumed 72% fewer calories than those in the other groups (34).

Another study determined an association between consumption of SSB and weight status among 4,283 children aged 2-16 (35). Using cross-sectional data, the study found that higher obesity risk was associated with higher levels of SSB consumption. Sixty-two percent of participants reported consumption of SSB, and those who consumed > 250 g (more than 1 serving) were 26% more likely to be obese or overweight (35).

The top dietary energy sources of children ages 2-18 include added sugar and solid fats, as noted by a study using data from NHANES (36). The results of a related

cross-sectional study showed that SSBs from combined soda and fruit drinks totaled 173 kcal/day, and 40% of total energy consumed came from empty calories, the sum of energy from solid fats and added sugars (36).

## **Parent Involvement Needed in Interventions**

Family-based intervention is an effective means of changing children's food habits and the best avenue to use in nutritional and health interventions (37). Children are too young and powerless to produce changes on their own, and while school lunch programs may be a good place to start, the family is the center of the child's world where values are learned and handed down. The significant role of parents has been demonstrated in various studies. Fat intake levels between children and parents in the Netherlands are similar; their results showed a significant association in the intake of energy, fat and cholesterol between parents and children from 1 to 30 years of age (37).

A study which traced the similarities of family members' eating habits to the person who prepares a majority of the family meals and the number of meals the family shares (38). This study of 282 people who described themselves as family food preparers (FFP) revealed that the preparer's fruit-and-vegetable intake was mimicked by the spouse and offspring (p< 0.01). If that person ate high-fat foods, so did other family members (p< 0.01). The more meals the family shared, the more eating habits the family members shared. Women tend to have the greatest impact on the family eating habits, as they are more likely to follow dietary guidelines than men (38). This article included data showing that child and parental intakes of most nutrients were significantly correlated, especially shared meals of fruits and vegetables (p< 0.05) (38). Dietary interventions may need to

target wives/mothers and not necessarily the entire family in order to be successful; however, the family and the all children would be a secondary target.

With the aforementioned studies showing that ingesting certain foods and beverages during childhood may play a major role in children's tendency to become obese, a logical next step is to educate parents on good nutrition. With the increasing prevalence of obesity in children and parental obesity a risk factor for childhood obesity (39), Researchers evaluated a parent-focused behavioral intervention on parent/child eating changes and corresponded the percentage of overweight changes in families with at least one obese parent and a non-obese child (39).

The families were encouraged, over a period of one year, to increase fruit and vegetable intake and decrease intake of high fat/high sugar foods. Measurements were taken at four bi-weekly and two monthly meetings. Parents were given workbooks on diet and activities, as well as a Traffic Light diet with foods given red, green or yellow lights to designate how often they should be incorporated into the daily diet (39). Although small, one notable change was that over the year children ate more fruits and vegetables and fewer foods high in fat and sugar (39). The overweight status change was greater among children whose parents targeted increases in fruit and vegetables consumption compared to parents who reduced high fat/high sugar intake (39).

#### **Cross-Age Teaching**

The Cross-age teaching model is designed to build program capacity and help expand sustainability, as well as teach teens how to teach nutrition to the "tweens" (5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade students). As noted by researchers, cross-age teaching provides a sense of

belonging to the group and encourages the involvement of students who often feel left behind in a larger group (40). A cross-age teacher may either teach lessons to a group or be a one-to-one tutor, giving them hands-on learning while gaining experience, subject knowledge, practice, talent, self-confidence and improved academic performance (40).

A study used trained high school students leaders to teach  $6^{th}$  and  $7^{th}$  graders about healthy snacks through skits, goal-setting activities and videos. The study found that the connection with the school setting and the role of peer leaders had a significant effect on the health behaviors and healthy lifestyle changes of all participants, including the high school students, the  $6^{th}$  graders and the school overall (41).

Another study examined cross-age tutoring using a one-to-one setup twice a week, matching 45 student athletes with at-risk children. The study found that 18 out of 20 first grade students moved to higher reading levels, because the children's confidence levels were boosted (42).

During the early adolescence years (ages 10-14), teenagers go through cognitive changes, along with emotional and physical development. Such changes may be addressed by cross-age teaching, since it provides practice in critical thinking, transition to adulthood and achievement (43). This activity leads teens to learn the content of the curriculum in depth, including strategies, planning, age group needs, evaluation and information delivery (43).

A study tested a curriculum on the subject of dietary intake and physical activity using a pre- and post-test designed group comparison of 72 children living in rural areas (5). Researchers noted improvement in the consumption of healthy foods, attitudes, knowledge, efficacy and body mass index. This study indicated that teen mentors could significantly lower children's BMI and improve eating behaviors (5). Another study confirmed the use of a cross-age prevention program to successfully change behaviors, knowledge and the attitudes of students (44).

Cross-age teaching methods provide the most impact when implemented within schools' health education curricula. They may assist in modifying diets, eating behaviors, self-efficacy and goal-setting (6). Teen teachers can effectively impact children's knowledge and improve health education through cross-age teaching (45).

#### **Peer Teaching**

A study examined whether a school-based pilot program, *Improving Meals and Physical Activity in Children and Teens* (IMPACT), would improve physical activity and nutrition in rural North Carolina elementary and high school students, using a Train the Trainer model and a school-based curriculum (46). High school students taught the IMPACT program to 4 classrooms of 4<sup>th</sup> graders (2 classrooms with 38 students and 2 classrooms with 37 students). The students received the standard curriculum along with baseline and post-intervention surveys. Within the IG, the elementary children's eating behaviors and nutrition knowledge improved. The increased intake of fruits and vegetables was statistically significant amount (+0.85 servings/day) compared with controls. And they also increased their intake of calcium rich-foods and grains, though the results were not statistically significant (46).

## **Different Types of Instructors**

#### **SNAP-ED** teachers

In South Dakota, extension SNAP-ED teachers taught the students at some KidQuest schools. SNAP-ED received previous nutrition training as part of their job; they were required to attend bi-annual professional development training. Also, they receive at a minimum two times per year around 10 hours or a total of approximately 20 hours professional development related training related to nutrition, physical activity and wellness per year. They also paid to do the teaching as part of their employment. This is accomplished through the MyPlate program and the Dietary Guideline for Americans (47-50).

SNAP-ED educators have played a significant role in learning about the dietary habits and intervention outcomes for SNAP-ED participants. A study used an evaluation within 124,105 school-age children to develop a Taste-Testing tool (51). SNAP-ED teachers presented the 6-item evaluation tool in order to develop validity, reliability and useful information when capturing important nutritional outcomes where students showed a significant willingness to try the food again for fruits than vegetables (51).

SNAP-ED educators also participated in a study incorporating four vegetablefocused lessons among 4<sup>th</sup> graders in 72 interventions and 68 controls schools (52). Fiftyone classrooms were in a CG with no sessions and 57 intervention classrooms went through a 3-5 week timeline of sessions, using pre- and post-testing. The sessions included vegetable preferences and self-efficacy. The lessons were effective in increasing vegetable intake among 4<sup>th</sup> graders (52). SNAP-ED educators have been effective by finding and using new communication channels to reach clients. They educate on diabetes prevention, provide encouragement to clients, develop nutrition education materials, improve healthy eating in communities and schools and develop instructional guides for low-literate Spanish speakers participating in nutritional intervention programs (53-55).

#### **Teen Teachers**

The participation of teen teachers has also been shown to be effective as a transdisciplinary approach to teaching younger children. A study tested mentors attitudes about children interacting with their mentees (56). The study included 221 high school participants, 182 youth in a CG and 205 mentees. An in-service training was suggested to teach the mentors to meet their expectations, which led to statistically significant relationships and effective delivery of nutrition education (56).

Another study tested a mentoring model of trained teens in a school setting among 72 children, using a pre- and post-test design (5); the teens delivered lessons on healthy lifestyle patterns, including nutrition and physical activity. The results noted an improvement in health knowledge, self-efficacy and BMI. Teen teaching was found to be effective in delivering nutrition education to children, resulting in positive health outcomes and knowledge (5).

#### School-Based Nutrition/Physical Activity Programs Benefits

Over the last several decades, physical activity (PA) has dropped among children, leading to more sedentary lifestyles. Instead of activity, they are spending more time at the computer browsing the internet, playing games, watching TV, etc. This is especially true for youth between 4-21 years of age. This behavior has been shown to lead to heartrelated risk factors such as increased systolic blood pressure (SBP), unwanted lipid profile and type 2 diabetes mellitus (57). Numerous studies have found that lack of physical activity for youth and their preference for sedentary activities, while consuming high calorie foods, is a chief contributing factor to rising obesity prevalence (58-60).

Another intervention, implemented from 2004-2006, aimed to increase physical activity among 350 9-11-year old children through eight lessons of 45-minute physical activities each week, which is double the intensity of the control group; The study found boys' overall BMI was significant improved, compared to the girls respectively with non-significant reduction (61).

A 6-month school-based physical activity intervention program evaluated 457 children ages 6-10 years and found that adding 2 physical activity sessions a week to the standard classes was beneficial to reducing childhood obesity (62). A study found body composition improved through a six-month PA intervention program (63); The PA intervention program had a significant effect on boys' BMI and fat-free-mass and girls' anthropometric variables including BMI and WC (63).

The "Nutrition on the Go" intervention study completed in 2012 was successful in maintaining normal BMI among 5<sup>th</sup> grade children. This study aimed to reduce children's intake of sugars in cereals and the fat content in milk, while increasing PA and awareness of the value of fruits and vegetables. Results showed a slight decrease in obesity occurred between baseline and post 6-month, (p= 0.065) (64). A controlled trial done aimed to reduce video games and television viewing (65). One hundred ninety eight 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup>

grade students who completed a 6-month in-classroom 18-lesson curricula. The study found that there was a significant improve in BMI (P < 0.05) (65).

One of the largest childhood obesity programs, the "Let's Move" campaign initiated by First Lady Michelle Obama, began in February, 2010. This campaign aims to reduce the childhood obesity rate 5% by the year 2030. It consists of information on healthy lifestyles targeted for children, families, educators and community leaders (66). The campaign accomplishments up to date including meet nutritional guidelines that limit federal standards in all owned Disney theme parks and channels, more than 1.7 million kids provided beginner athletic programming for free or low cost during 2012 Olympic Games, updated nutritional standards at the Department of Defense to include more healthy foods, new collaborations from different organizations to support Let's Move in Cities, Towns and Counties, distribution of 50 million coupons to promote vegetables, safe streets were blocked to provide more space for kids to play, walk and bike in safe areas (67).

A 2010 U.S. study used an obesity prevention curriculum with one to one coaching by nursing students for 99 children 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> grade students (68). Students demonstrated a significant improvement in health, including decreased BMI percentile, increased consumption of healthy foods such as fruits and vegetables, and decreased intake of sweetened beverages such as sodas and punch (68).

#### Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors Among U.S. Children

A study found that among 3383 U.S. adolescents aged 12-19 years, 22% had borderline-high/high low density lipoprotein and 6% had low HDL (69). Within the same group, prevalence of diabetes and pre-diabetes increased by 14%. There were also increases in hypertension and prehypertension (69).

In a study titled "The Relation of Overweight to Cardiovascular Risk Factors Among Children and Adolescents: The Bogalusa Heart Study," 9,167 children aged 5-17 years old participated until the mean age of 27 years. Results found that 11% of the children were overweight, and of the 475 children 58% were found to have at least one risk factor (70).

#### Lipid Parameters

The serum lipid profile measurement is one of the cardiovascular risk predictors, usually obtained in a fasting state of 12-14 hours. The measurement consists of total cholesterol, low density lipoprotein cholesterol, HDL cholesterol and triglycerides (71). New guidelines for these measurements were recently endorsed by the National Institute of Health (NIH), American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), and National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI), recommending that all children between ages 9-11 to be screened for cholesterol, regardless of family history (72).

Heart-related disease is still responsible for 450,000 deaths per year in the U.S. Atherosclerosis may begin in youngsters (73) and evidence shows that lowering of some lipid parameters is associated with lower heart disease (74).

#### **Blood Pressure (BP)**

Blood pressure has been proven to be associated with obesity and CVD risk factors among children (75-82). A cohort found that SBP was associated with CVD risk factors and obesity in children ages 9-16 (75). Results show statistical improved associations of BMI with triglyceride concentrations (66). A meta-analysis of 63 studies involving 49,220 children ages 5-15 years old concluded that BP was found to worsen due to obesity. The tracking of elevated BP occurrence into adulthood demonstrated that more girls than boys showed an increase in diastolic blood Pressure (DBP) (83).

#### Hemoglobin

Low Hb levels may lead to insufficient oxygen in red blood cells, which carry oxygen from the lungs to the rest of the body. Low Hb is an indicator of iron deficiency anemia (84). A cohort study included 2,492 school children aged 9-13 years old aimed to study the association between iron deficiency and being overweight (85). The results show that iron deficiency anemia was higher among all ages compared to their normal counterparts (p< 0.05) and that obese children were at great risk of iron deficiency anemia (85). Another study evaluated the association between obesity and iron deficiency anemia found that iron deficiency were significantly associated with high percentage of body fat for boys and girls ages 9-13 (86).

#### REFERENCES

- Lobstein TT, Baur LL, & Uauy RR. Obesity in Children and Young People: a Crises in Public Health. *Obesity Rev.* 2004; 5:4-85.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Growth Charts Clinical Growth Charts. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/clinical\_charts.htm.</u> Accessed July 25, 2015.
- Jensen B, Kattelmann K, Ren C, Wey H. The Efficacy of KidQuest: A Nutrition and Physical Activity Curriculum for 5th and 6th Grade Youth. *J of Extention*. 2009: 47-3, 3FEA4.
- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2010. *J of the Am Med Assoc.* 2012;307(5):483-490.
- Smith LH. Piloting the use of teen mentors to promote a healthy diet and physical activity among children in Appalachia. J For Specialists In Ped Nursing. 2011;16-1, 16-26.
- Story M. School-based approaches for preventing and treating obesity. *Int J Of* Obesity & Related Met Dis. 1999; 23s43.
- Fact Sheet No. 311: Obesity and overweight. World Health Organization. <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/</u>. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- De Onis M, Blossner M, and Borghi E. Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children. *The Am J of Clin Nutr*. 2010; 92 (5): 1257-64

- Ng M, Fleming T, Ammar W. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet*. 2014;384(9945):766-781.
- El-Bayoumy, Ibrahim, Shady, Ibrahim, and Lofty H. Prevaence of Obesity Among Adolescents 10 to 14 year in Kuwait. *Asia-Pacific J of Pub Health*. 2009; 21-2: 153.
- Products Health E Stats Overweight Prevalence Among Children and Adolescents 2009-2010.

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity\_child\_09\_10/obesity\_child\_09\_10. htm. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, & Flegal KM. Prevalence of Childhood and Adult Obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *JAMA*.2014;311(8), 806-814.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Obesity United States, 1999– 2010. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/su6203a20.htm.</u> Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 14. South Dakota Department of Health DOH. (n.d.). School Height Weight Data Reports 2013-2014. <u>https://doh.sd.gov/documents/statistics/HeightWeight2013-</u> <u>2014.pdf</u>. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 15. Healthy People 2020 Nutrition and Weight Status.

https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/nutrition-andweight-status/objectives#4928. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 16. Graumann, J. Evaluation of teen-taught KidQuest: A school based nutrition and physical activity program for 5th and 6th graders in rural South Dakota. South Dakota State University. 2010; *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*. <u>http://search.proquest.com/docview/787890678?accountid=28594.</u> Accessed July 25, 2015.
- Bergan, T. Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Decreases In Fifth Grade Students Following The Teen Taught Kidquest Program. South Dakota State University. 2013; ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.
- McCann A, Kemmer T, Jensen B, and Wey H. Parents' Awareness of Their Fifth-Grader's Weight Status in Rural South Dakota. *J Of Nut Ed & Beh*. 2012;44(4S1):S44-S45.
- 19. Bandura A. (1986). Observational learning. In A. Bandura (1986), *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall. (pp. 169-195); 2001.
- Rinderknecht K, Smith C. Social cognitive theory in an afterschool nutrition intervention for urban Native American youth. *J Nutr Educ Behav*. 2004;36(6):298-304.
- 21. Hawley L, Harker D, Harker M. A social cognitive approach to tackle inactivity and obesity in young Australians. *J Bus Res.* 2010;63(2):116-120.
- 22. Winters ER, Petosa RL, Charlton TE. Using social cognitive theory to explain discretionary, "leisure time" physical exercise among high school students. J Adolesc Health. 2003;32(6):436-442.
- 23. Nixon CA., Moore HJ, Douthwaite WW, Gibson EL, Vogele CC, Kreichauf SS, & Summerbell CD. Identifying effective behavioural models and behaviour change strategies underpinning preschool- and school-based obesity prevention interventions aimed at 4-6-year-olds: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*. 2012;13106-117.
- 24. Dietary Guidelines for Americans (2015): http://www.health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015.asp. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- Kant, Ashima. Reported Consumption of Low-Nutrient-Density Foods by American Children and Adolescents. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*. 2003;157: 789 796.
- 26. Paeratakul, Sahasporn, Daphne Ferdinand, Catherine M. Champagne, Donna H. Ryan and George A. Bray, M.D. Fast-food consumption among U.S. adults and children: Dietary and nutrient intake profile. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2003;103: 1332-1338.
- 27. Wang Y, Claire, Sara N, Bleich, Steven L, Gortmaker. Increasing caloric contributions from sugar-sweetened beverages and 100% fruit juices among US children And adolescents 1988-2004. 2008. *Pediatrics*. 2007;121: e1604-e1614.
- 28. Vos, MB, Kimmons JK, Gillespie C, Welsh J, and Blanck HM. Dietary fructose consumption among U.S. children and adults: the Third National Health & Nutrition Examination Survey. *Medscape J Med.* 2008;10-7: 160.
- Bachman, Christine M., Tom Baranowski and Theresa A. Nicklas. Is There An Association Between Sweetened Beverages and Adiposity? *Nutr Rev.* 2006;64-4:153-174.

- 30. Weker H, Zywienia Z. Simple obesity in children: A study on the role of Nutritional factors. *Medycyna wieku rozwojowego*. 2006; 10-1: 3-191.
- 31. Klunklin, Siriprapa and Khampon Channoonmuang. Snack Consumption in Normal And Undernourished Preschool Children in Northeastern Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai. 2006;89-5: 706-713.
- 32. Dubois, Lise, Anna Farmer, Manon Girard and Kelly Peterson. Regular sugar-Sweetened beverage consumption between meals increases risk of overweight Among preschool-aged children. J Am Diet Assoc. 2007;207: 924-934.
- 33. Malik, Vasanti S, Matthias B. Schulze and Frank B Hu. Intake of sugar-Sweetened beverages and weight gain: a systematic review. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2006;84: 274-88.
- 34. Wansink, B, Shimizu, M, & Brumberg, A. Association of Nutrient-Dense Snack Combinations With Calories and Vegetable Intake. *Pediatrics*. 2013131-1, 22-29.
- Grimes CA, Riddel LJ, Campbell KJ, & Nowson CA. Dietary Salt Intake, Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption, and Obesity Risk. *Pediatrics*. 2013; *131*-1, 14-21.
- 36. Reedy J, & Krebs-Smith SM. Dietary Sources of Energy, Solid Fats, and Added Sugars among Children and Adolescents in the United States. J Of The Am Diet Assoc. 2010; 110-10), 1477-1484.
- 37. Fuenekes, G.I.J., A. Stafleu, C deGraaf and W.A. van Staveren. Family
  Resemblance in fat intake in The Netherlands. *Eur J of Clin Nutr*. 1997;51:793
  799.

- 38. Hannon, Paggy A, Deborah J., Bowen, Carol M. Moinpour, Dale F. McLerran. Correlations in perceived food use between the family food preparer and Their spouses and children. *Appetite*. 2003;40: 77-83.
- 39. Epstein, Leonard H., Constance C. Gordy, Hollie A. Raynor, Marlene Beddome, Colleen K. Kilanowski and Rocco Paluch. Increasing Fruit and Vegetable Iintake And Decreasing Fat and Sugar Intake in Families at Risk for Childhood Obesity. *Obesity Research*. 2001;9-3: 171-178.
- 40. Bilchik S. Youth in action: cross-age teaching. Washington, DC: U.S.Department of Justice: Office of Juvenile Justice and DelinquencyPrevention; July-6 1999.
- 41. Polk V. A Model to Measure Program Integrity of Peer-Led Health Promotion Programs in Rural Middle Schools: Assessing the Implementation of the Sixth Grade Goals for Health Program. J Of Ed & Psyc Consultation. 2000; 11-2, 223-252.
- 42. Juel C. Cross-age tutoring between student athletes and at-risk children. *Reading Teacher*. 1991; 45-3, 178.
- 43. Murdock SW, Lee FCH, and Paterson CA. -2003). The role of cross-age teaching in supporting adolescent development. Retrieved from University of California, 4-H Youth Development Program.

http://www.ca4h.org/files/1308.pdf. Accessed July 25, 2015.

44. Padget A, Bell M, Shamblen SR, & Ringwalt C. EFFECTS ON HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS OF TEACHING A CROSS-AGE ALCOHOL PREVENTION PROGRAM. J Of Drug Ed. 2005;35-3, 201-216.

- 45. Ponzio RC., Junge SK, Smith MH, Manglallan SS, & Peterson KD. 4-H teens as science teachers of children. *Advances in Youth Development Programming*.
  2000; Publication 3401.
- 46. Muth ND, Chatterjee A, Williams D, Cross A, Flower K. Making an IMPACT: effect of a school-based pilot intervention. *N C Med J*. 2008; 69-6:432-40.
- 47. U.S. Department of Agriculture. "Nutrition Program Facts: Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education -SNAP-Ed." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture. <u>http://www.nal.usda.gov/snap/SNAP-</u> <u>EdFactsheet2011.pdf</u>. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 48. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. "Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education SNAP-Ed Plan Guidance. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture.

http://www.nal.usda.gov/fsn/Guidance/FY2012SNAP-EdGuidance.pdf.

Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 49. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. "Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program: Nutrition Education Briefing Room." <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/Briefing/SNAP/Nutrition\_Education.htm.</u> Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 50. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Nutrition Education.

http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/nutrition\_education/default.htm. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 51. Kaiser LL, Schneider C, Mendoza C, George G, Neelon M, Roche B, & Ginsburg D. -2012). Development and Use of an Evaluation Tool for Taste-Testing Activities by School-Aged Children. J Of The Acad Of Nutr & Dietetics. 2012;112-12, 2028-2034.
- 52. Wall DE, Least C, Gromis J, & Lohse B. Nutrition Education Intervention Improves Vegetable-Related Attitude, Self-Efficacy, Preference, and Knowledge of Fourth-Grade Students. J Of School Health. 2012; 82-1), 37-43.
- 53. MkNelly, B, Nishio, S, Peshek, C, & Oppen M. Community Health Centers: A Promising Venue for Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education in the Central Valley. *J Of Nutri Ed & Behavior*. 2011;43-4S2), S137-S144.
- 54. Parker S, Hunter T, Briley C, Miracle S, Hermann J, van Delinder J, & Standridge J. Formative Assessment Using Social Marketing Principles to Identify Health and Nutrition Perspectives of Native American Women Living within the Chickasaw Nation Boundaries in Oklahoma. *J Of Nutri Ed & Behavior*. 2011; 43-1, 55-62.
- 55. Banna, J, & Townsend M. Assessing factorial and convergent validity and reliability of a food behaviour checklist for Spanish-speaking participants in US Department of Agriculture nutrition education programmes. *Pub Health Nutri*. 2011; *14-7*, 1165-1176.
- 56. Karcher, MJ, Davidson AJ, Rhodes JE, & Herrera C. Pygmalion in the Program: The Role of Teenage Peer Mentors' Attitudes in Shaping Their Mentees' Outcomes. *Applied Developmental Sci.* 2010; 14-4, 212-227.

- 57. Expert Panel on Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular Health and Risk Reduction in Children and Adolescents: Summary Report. *Pediatrics*. 2011; 128S213-S256.
- Caballero, B., -2007). The Global Epidemic of Obesity: An Overview.
   *Epidemiologic Reviews*. 2007;29, 1 5.
- 59. Armstrong C, Sallis J, Alcaraz J, Kolody B, McKenzie T and Howell M. Children's television viewing, body fat, and physical fitness. *Am J of Health Promotion, 1998*;112, 363 – 368.
- 60. Crespo C, Smit E, Troiano R, Bartlett S, Macera C and Anderson R. Television watching, energy intake and obesity in US children: results from the 3<sup>rd</sup>
   NHANES: 1988–1994. Archives of Ped and Adolesc Med. 2001;155, 360 365.
- Shofan Y, Kedar O, Branski D, Berry E, & Wilschanski M. A school-based program of physical activity may prevent obesity. *Eur J Of Clin Nutri*. 2011;65-6,768-770.
- 62. Thivel D, Isacco L, Lazaar N, Aucouturier J, Ratel S, Doré E, & Duché P. Effect of a 6-month school-based physical activity program on body composition and physical fitness in lean and obese schoolchildren. *Eur J Of Ped.* 2011; *170*-11, 1435-1443.
- 63. Lazaar N, Aucouturier J, Ratel S, Rance M, Meyer M, & Duché P. Effect of physical activity intervention on body composition in young children: influence of body mass index status and gender. *Acta Paediatrica*. 2007;96-9, 1321-1325.
- 64. Levy T, Ruán, C, Castellanos C, Coronel A, Aguilar A and Humarán I. Effectiveness of a diet and physical activity promotion strategy on the

prevention of obesity in Mexican school children. *BMC Public Health*. 2012;12-1, 152-164.

- 65. Robinson TN. Reducing Children's Television Viewing to Prevent Obesity: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *JAMA*. 1999;282-16):1561-1567.
- 66. Cappellano, KL. Let's Move--Tools to Fuel a Healthier Population. *Nutrition Today*. 2011;46-3), 149-154.
- 67. Let's Move! Accomplishments United States, 1999–2010. http://www.letsmove.gov/accomplishments. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 68. Tucker S, Lanningham-Foster L, Murphy J, Olsen G, Orth K, Voss J, & Lohse C. A School Based Community Partnership for Promoting Healthy Habits for Life. J Of Comm Health. 2011; 36-3, 414-422.
- May A, Kuklina E, Yoon P. Prevalence of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors Among US Adolescents, 1999-2008. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129-6:1035-1041.
- 70. Freedman DS, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, & Berenson GS. The Relation of Overweight to Cardiovascular Risk Factors Among Children and Adolescents: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*. 1999; *103*-6, 1175.
- Nigam PK. Serum Lipid Profile: Fasting or Non-fasting? *Indian J of Clin Biochem*. 2011; 26-1, 96-97.
- 72. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, Expert Panel on Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular Health and Risk Reduction in Children and Adolescents. <u>http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/cvd\_ped/#background.</u> Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 73. Flores G, & Lin H. Factors predicting severe childhood obesity in kindergarteners. *International j of obesity*. 2013; 37-1, 31-39.
- 74. Children and Cholesterol; AHA.

http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/Conditions/Cholesterol/UnderstandYourRis kforHighCholesterol/Children-and-Cholesterol\_UCM\_305567\_Article.jsp. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 75. Cholesterol and Atherosclerosis in Children; AHA Scientific Position. <u>http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/GettingHealthy/NutritionCenter/Cholesterol</u> <u>-and-Atherosclerosis-in-Children\_UCM\_305952\_Article.jsp.</u> Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 76. Tybor DJ, Lichtenstein AH, Dallal GE, Daniels SR, Must A. Independent effects of age-related changes in waist circumference and BMI z scores in predicting cardiovascular disease risk factors in a prospective cohort of adolescent females. *Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;* 93: 392–401.
- 77. Gopinath B, Baur LA, Garnett S, Pfund N, Burlutsky G. Body mass index and waist circumference are associated with blood pressure in preschool aged children. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2011; 21: 351–7.
- 78. Falaschetti E, Hingorani AD, Jones A, Charakida M, Finer N. Adiposity and cardiovascular risk factors in a large contemporary population of pre-pubertal children. *Eur Heart J. 2010;* 31: 3063–72.
- 79. Larsson C, Hernell O, Lind T. Moderately elevated body mass index is associated with metabolic variables and cardiovascular risk factors in Swedish children. *Acta Paediatr. 2011;* 100: 102–8.

- Weiss R, Dziura J, Burgert TS, Tamborlane WV, Taksali SE. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. *N Engl J Med. 2004;* 350: 2362–74.
- Maximova K, O'Loughlin J, Paradis G, Hanley JA, Lynch J. Changes in anthropometric characteristics and blood pressure during adolescence. *Epidemiology*. 2010; 21: 324–31.
- 82. Bekkers MB, Brunekreef B, Koppelman GH, Kerkhof M, de Jongste JC, Smit HA, Wijga AH. BMI and Waist Circumference; Cross-Sectional and Prospective Associations with Blood Pressure and Cholesterol in 12-Year-Olds. <u>PLoS One</u>. 2012;7-12:e51801.
- 83. Friedemann C ,Heneghan C ,Mahtani K ,Thompson M ,Perera R ,Ward AM. Cardiovascular disease risk in healthy children and its association with body mass index: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*. 2012;345:e4759
- 84. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. What Are the Signs and Symptoms of Iron-Deficiency Anemia? <u>http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/health-</u> topics/topics/ida/signs.html . Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 85. Manios Y, Moschonis G, Chrousos GP, Lionis C, Mougios V, Kantilafti M, Tzotzola V,Skenderi KP, Petridou A, Tsalis G, Sakellaropoulou A, Skouli G, Katsarou C. The double burden of obesity and iron deficiency on children and adolescents in Greece: the Healthy Growth Study. *J Hum Nutr Diet*. 2012;doi: 10.1111/jhn.12025
- 86. Moschonis G, Chrousos GP, Lionis C, Mougios V and Manios Y. -2012).Association of total body and visceral fat mass with iron deficiency in

preadolescents: the Healthy Growth Study. *British J of Nutr*. 2012;108, pp 710-719.

Chapter 3

# THE KIDQUEST CHILDHOOD OBESITY PREVENTION PROGRAM: EFFICACY ON DIETARY CHOICES, ACTIVITY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES AMONG SOUTH DAKOTA 5TH AND 6TH GRADERS

NAYEF BUMARYOUM

### ABSTRACT

**Background:** Obesity among U.S. children and adolescents has increased dramatically from 1971 to 2011. School-based interventions have played a major role in improving children's health. The aim of this study was to determine the efficacy of the KidQuest (KQ) nutrition and physical activity program in health measures and dietary choices (DC) among South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade school children.

**Methods**: KidQuest is a South Dakota signature program, designed by South Dakota Extension Educators, focused on teaching 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> graders in their classrooms about healthy nutrition and physical activity. Of the 292 students invited to participate, 254 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> graders (166 intervention and 88 control) from 13 elementary schools in rural South Dakota agreed to participate. The program was taught using six different 50minute hands-on nutrition education activities provided in the classroom 1-2 times per month over the course of 4-6 months.

**Results:** There were two measures for which there were statistically significant differences in the changes between the control and intervention groups (IG). For responses to the question "Yesterday, how many times did you eat any type of candy?" the odds of improvement were higher for the IG (odds ratio= 0.562; 95% CI= 0.361, 0.874, p= 0.011); and for whole grain consumption, the IG showed more change in a healthier direction (odds ratio= 1.816; 95% CI= 1.038, 3.178, p= 0.037).

**Conclusions:** KidQuest provides reinforcement for nutrition and physical education in the school setting, is able to support students in practicing healthy options, and improved a number of health parameters associated with childhood obesity.

**Keywords:** KidQuest; school children; school-based intervention; teen teachers; body mass index; obesity; blood pressure; dietary choices

### **INTRODUCTION**

In the U.S., obesity prevalence of youth were considered overweight/obese is (31.8%, 16.9%) in 2012 (1). In the U.S., prevalence of body mass index (BMI) greater than 99<sup>th</sup> percentile has increased more than 300% among 2-19 year old children and adolescents since 1976 (2). Statistics for South Dakota students using data from 2013/2014 showed that within children ages 9-11, 17.4% were overweight and 17.9% were obese and within children ages 12-14, 17.7 were overweight and 17.4% were obese (3).

In order to change this dire situation, the KidQuest (KQ) nutrition and physical activity intervention was created for South Dakota children and adolescents, which includes six 50-minute in-class activities based on Social Cognitive Theory (SCT). An extensive review determined that the most effective behavioral strategies and models in school-based interventions for childhood obesity prevention include dietary instruction and physical activity, school-based teaching and parental involvement (based on involvement of school and parents), and long-term follow-up (4).

A school-based intervention incorporating a nutrition curriculum has been shown to play a major role in improving children's health (5). The program evaluated within 12 intervention and 13 control schools, implemented a card game and "Healthy Eating" curriculum among 2,519 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade children. This 9-week intervention aimed to improve nutrition knowledge and change in eating attitudes. The nutrition intervention curriculum resulted in a modest increase in nutrition knowledge scores and more children at the intervention schools ate a healthier diet or would try to eat a healthier diet than those in the control schools (5). Teen teaching methods have been found to provide the most impact when implemented within the schools' health education curricula; they may assist in modifying diets, eating behaviors, self-efficacy and goal-setting (6).

Obesity and being overweight have been shown to cause major health problems for children as well as adults. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk factors in childhood continue to exist in adult years (7). Therefore, the prevention of CVD risk factors among children would slow the progress of the disease in later life (8). One of the major risk factors is the significant decrease in physical activity (PA) among children of all ages, leading to more sedentary lifestyles; this behavior alone has been shown to lead to heart-related risk factors such as increased systolic blood pressure (SBP) (9-16), poor lipid profile (8), type 2 diabetes mellitus (17-21) and iron deficiency anemia (22).

Poor diet, another alarming global trend, also contributes to overweight/obesity. There is an association between consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages (SSB) and weight status among children aged 2-16; children who consumed SSB more than 1 serving were obese or overweight (23). High-fat foods have been described as a nonnutrient dense (NND) snack (24). These NND foods typically include potato chips, candy and cookies. A study of 201 children in 3<sup>rd</sup> to 6<sup>th</sup> grade categorized them according to four snacking conditions: vegetable only, cheese only, potato chips only, cheese and vegetables. The study found that eating potato chips was significantly higher among those who did not consume cheese and vegetable snacks, while those eating healthy snacks reduced their consumption of extra calories. The children who ate a combined vegetable and cheese snack consumed 72% fewer calories than those in the other groups (24). The top dietary energy sources of children ages 2-18 include added sugar and solid fats were also noted by a study using data from NHANES (25). The results of a related cross-sectional study showed that SSBs from combined soda and fruit drinks totaled 173 kcal/day, and 40% of total energy consumed came from empty calories, the sum of energy from solid fats and added sugars (25).

The KQ program has previously revealed consequential improvements in dairy and breakfast consumption, frequency of reading food labels, food label knowledge and lipid outcomes among intervention group (IG) participants (26-28). To our knowledge, no studies in South Dakota and few in the U.S. have evaluated the association between nutrition intervention and risk factors for CVD in children and adolescents. The purpose of this study was to determine the efficacy of the KQ nutrition and physical activity program in improving blood pressure (BP), lipid levels, hemoglobin (Hb), BMI and dietary choices (DC) in reducing the proportion of children who are overweight and obese within South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade children using baseline/post-intervention data.

### METHODOLOGY

### **Selection of Schools**

School administrators were contacted to confirm their interest in participating in the study; letters were mailed reaffirming this, and verbal and signed approvals were obtained. Six schools were randomly assigned to the control and intervention groups; the remaining 7 schools were assigned based on their willingness to participate resulting in 6 control and 7 intervention schools.

### **Participants**

Two hundred fifty four 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grader students were invited to participate from 13 elementary schools in rural South Dakota via parents' conference day and/or distribution of the KQ program invitation brochure being mailed to parents/guardians through school administrations. Seven elementary schools implemented the KQ program. The program was implemented in collaboration with the Family, Career, and Community Leaders of America (FCCLA) program (29). In this study, Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval was obtained through the South Dakota State University Human Subjects Committee.

### **Program Teachers**

Two teacher types were trained to present KQ to the intervention students, teen teachers (TT) and SNAP-ED staff. The TT were recruited through the FCCLA teachers in each district. In these high schools, the TT had the option to participate in KQ as one of their subjects or as a FCCLA project. Teen teachers were trained by the researchers and a registered dietitian for a total of 3-4 hours on KQ topics, teaching techniques, program instructions, guidelines, procedures and schedules; they worked directly with the children and teachers to implement and monitor the program; FCCLA teachers were also encouraged to attend each session.

The second teacher type presenting KQ to students was SNAP-ED staff who were selected from South Dakota State University Extension. In South Dakota, extension SNAP-ED teachers taught the students at some KQ schools. SNAP-ED received previous nutrition training as part of their job; they were required to attend bi-annual professional development training. Also, they receive at a minimum two times per year around 10 hours or a total of approximately 20 hours professional development related training related to nutrition, physical activity and wellness per year. They also paid to do the teaching as part of their employment.

Two of the intervention schools had SNAP-ED staff teaching the KQ lessons; in the other five intervention schools, TT taught the lessons. The required KQ instructional supplies were provided to each school.

### Instruments

### Youth Survey Form

Students completed the KQ Youth Nutrition and Physical Activity Surveys (KYNPAS) before the intervention and approximately 6 months post program initiation ended. Class time was used to administer the surveys and complete the lessons, while measurements were obtained at the beginning of a school day. The KYNPAS questions were adapted from the School, Physical Activity and Nutrition Survey tool (30), and from Girls Health Enrichment Multisite Studies of Food Availability Questionnaires.

Detailed survey instructions were read in class to all participants by trained interviewer. The KYNPAS asked for the following demographic information: age, grade, gender, and ethnicity. Some items asked for the number of times youth ate specific foods the day before, providing some highlights on their food patterns. Participants were also asked about healthy food consumption, including serving and portion sizes, use of food labels, and breakfast habits. Questions also covered specific nutrition facts on food labels, such as amounts of fat and sugar, whether meal times existed in their family during a week, nutrition behaviors such as cooking or snack suggestions, and whether any physical activities were done with any family members during the past week. Finally, the survey asked about food availability and if youth had certain food items during the past week in their home, such as fruits, dairy products, cereals, processed foods, and sweet or fatty foods. Only questions that match all schools were analyzed in this study.

All participants had the right to skip any question they did not want to answer, and were told that the survey would not affect their grades in school or their ability to take part in any of the KQ activities. They were assured that the information obtained would be kept confidential and coded.

The reliability of the youth survey was evaluated using 52 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade students. They were given a second survey seven days after the post survey was completed. Cronbach alpha indicators for internal consistency showed 85% of the variables had a reliability of 0.70 and higher, 11% between 0.58-0.69, and 4% (only one variable) less than 0.50 (28).

### Anthropometrics and Biochemical Assessments

Students' parents were contacted by research assistants the day before measurements were obtained, providing detailed instructions on required protocol procedures. Children were provided breakfast after the data was obtained.

Typical cutoff and reference points were used in all measures. Desired BMI cutoff values were calculated and categorized using Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) charts (31-35). In 2007, desired cut-off values of BMI were categorized using categories for children according to the CDC charts (36) for children aged 2-20, with normal cut off values: BMI < 5th percentile is considered underweight,  $\geq$  5th to < 85th percentile is a healthy weight,  $\geq$  85th to < 95th percentile is overweight, and  $\geq$  95th percentile is considered obese (37). Growth charts are based on BMI for age and sex specific percentiles, because children are still growing and body fat changes as they grow, and the difference of body fat percentiles between boys and girls (37-38).

Weight was measured in kg to the nearest 0.1 kilogram (Seca, Vogel & Halke, Germany). Weight was taken twice and averaged. Height was measured using the Adult/Child Shorrboard (Shorrboard Productions, Olney, MD); height was taken twice and averaged to the nearest 0.1 centimeters. The OMRON Intelli Sense® Digital Blood Pressure Monitor was used to obtain the diastolic blood pressure (DBP) and SBP. Two measurements were obtained and averaged, with normal values based on standardized age specific measurements (38). Biochemical assessments were obtained by finger prick to obtain small blood samples (4-5 drops, 1 drop= 35µl). Lipid levels were analyzed using National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute and National Cholesterol Education Program standards (31, 32). Anemia was diagnosed using age-specific cutoff values Hb from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (33). Cholestech® LDX Analyzer P.A. (Polymer Technology Systems, Inc, Inverness Medical, Hayward, CA.) was used to obtain total cholesterol (TC), high density lipoprotein (HDL) and Hb levels (Table 1). Following data collection and analysis, outcomes for each child were provided to parents; no personal or demographic information was incorporated. .

### Procedure

KidQuest is a South Dakota Signature program, designed by South Dakota Extension Educators, focused on teaching 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> graders in their classrooms about healthy nutrition and physical activity. The KQ sessions are designed to enhance classroom curriculums and to provide content standards that link with the South Dakota Department of Education curriculum standards for health education, reading and math. The KQ curriculum was taught by both SNAP-ED and TT using six different 50-minute hands-on nutrition education activities provided in the classroom on a 1 or 2 times per month basis over the course of 4-6 months (Table 2). General Educator Instructions were also provided to the teachers in order to run the KQ curriculum. These instructions included a letter to educators/teachers, an educator feedback card and planning/scheduling guidelines. Incentives were provided to students and the school for participation in the KQ program.

### **Statistical Analysis**

A linear mixed model was used to evaluate the statistical significance of differences in mean values at baseline between participants from the two groups. Regression analyses using linear mixed models were used on the outcome variables, which would adjust for both the clustering effects of schools and for covariates considered to be potential confounders. These models would measure and evaluate the statistical significance of the differences between the two groups in changes from baseline to post-intervention values. Data analyses were conducted using SPSS<sup>®</sup> statistical software (IBM<sup>®</sup>, Version 20.0, 2012) and Stata/IC Version 12.1 for Windows<sup>®</sup>. A p-value < 0.05 significance level was used.

To evaluate the statistical significance of possible differences in mean values at baseline between students from the two groups, a random effects regression model was fit for each variable. The student's value at baseline was an independent variable; the group membership (control/intervention) was a predictor, along with gender as a covariate. Group membership was coded as 0=control group, 1=intervention group. School was entered as a random effect, to adjust for clustering effects, which were to be expected (i.e., students in the same school should behave more similarly than students in different schools). The null hypothesis was that the coefficient for the group variable was equal to zero (i.e., no mean difference in change between students for the two groups); the alternate hypothesis was that the coefficient was not equal to zero (i.e., that there were differences in the mean change). Since the regression model adjusts for school-to-school differences, the regression estimate will not necessarily agree with the raw difference between mean scores. For dichotomized variables (categories), a logistic mixed model was used, set up in the same manner. The null hypothesis was that the odds ratio for differences between students from the two groups was equal to 1.

### RESULTS

Of the 254 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade students invited to participate from 13 elementary schools, 66% agreed to participate (47% male). Within the control group (CG) 45% were male and from the IG 53% were male. Participant characteristics are presented in Table 3, while a flow chart of the study participants shown in Figure 1.

Health characteristics were compared between the two groups. There were two statistically significant differences in mean values at baseline between the groups: 1) systolic blood pressure and 2) diastolic blood pressure. The mean difference for SBP (CG mean minus IG mean) was 5.5 (95% CI: 2.39, 8.70). The mean difference for DBP (CG mean minus IG mean) was 4.6 (95% CI: 1.79, 7.38) (Table 4).

### Mean Value Changes from Baseline to Post-Intervention

Characteristics were reassessed 6 months post-intervention. The change from baseline was calculated and compared between participants from the two groups. There were no statistically significant differences in mean change between the two groups for these variables (Table 5).

## Dietary intake differences in change between groups from baseline to approximately 6 months post-intervention

The statistical significance of differences in changes (from baseline to 6 months post-intervention) was assessed by a generalized linear mixed model (a logistic regression). The dependent variable was the dichotomized response to each question, where the response was classified as 'no consumption' vs. 'some consumption' or 'no/not

sure' vs. 'yes'. The data was coded with 'no consumption'/'no' coded as 0, 'some consumption'/'yes' as 1 The models included school as a random effect (which would adjust for both the possible clustering effects of within schools), two covariates considered to be potential confounders – gender and the baseline response, and the group status (CG vs. IG). The coefficient for this variable was used to assess the difference in change between the control and intervention groups. For the consumption models, the odds ratio had to be interpreted by item, because for some items 'no consumption' was healthier; for others it was unhealthier.

There were two measures for which there were statistically significant differences in the changes between the control and intervention groups. For the question "Yesterday, how many times did you eat any type of candy?" (listed in table 7 as 'Candy'). The IG showed more change in a healthier direction (decreased consumption): (odds ratio= 0.562; 95% CI= 0.361, 0.874, p=0.011) (Table 7). For the question (listed in table 7 as 'Whole grain cereal, whole grain bread or whole grain crackers'). The IG showed more change in a healthier direction (increased consumption): (odds ratio= 1.816; 95% CI= 1.038, 3.178, p=0.037) (Table 6).

### DISCUSSION

Increased nutrition knowledge among children and adolescence through school-based nutrition and physical activity programs has been associated with improvements in lifestyle, eating habits, physical activity and health measures (34-35, 39-41). This study compares improvements (declines) between a control and intervention groups. It was also hypothesized that there would be statistically significantly different changes (from baseline to approximately 6 months post-intervention) between the control and intervention groups for BP, lipid levels, Hb, BMI and DC. With the exception of two measures SBP and DBP (Table 4), the means for all baseline characteristics were not statistically significantly different between the two groups prior to the nutrition and activity intervention. If the groups were significantly different in many measures, this would threaten the validity of comparing the changes between them to judge the effects of the intervention.

Researchers found that their IG significantly decreased intake of total sweets, while intake increased in the CG (42); which is in agreement with this study findings of IG towards healthier direction of decreased consumption of candy (Table 6). These findings were also consistent with the study found that a nutrition education curriculum delivered a modest increase in nutrition knowledge scores, and more children at intervention schools ate a healthier diet (39.6%) or would try to eat a healthy diet (35.7%) than those in control schools (34.4% and 31.7%) respectively; p < 0.001(5); and agree with other studies where children statistically reduce their sweet intake (43) (44).

This study found that IG showed more change in a healthier direction with increased consumption for 'Whole grain cereal, whole grain bread or whole grain crackers': (odds

ratio= 1.816; 95% CI= 1.038, 3.178, p=0.037) (Table 6). Likewise, dietary intake of fiber among IG in school-based intervention was significant over time (43); and concurs with another study found a higher consumption of fiber after 6-months of intervention such as brown bread (2.5g; 95% CI 0.7, 4.2g; p=0.005) (44); and among 23 rural intervention schools in increased knowledge of fiber food frequency score (p<0.003) (45). This study also contradicted findings of a study were grains intake insignificant among 13 schoolbased interventions (46).

The strengths of this intervention study were that it was implemented during the school day and in the classrooms by more than one peer teacher through the FCCLA, rather than by individuals. Also, the intervention schools provided full curriculum materials to be used in different health-related classrooms. The control and intervention groups were in different schools, although some were located in the same county; this reduced the possibility of cross-contamination via communication between the groups. A nutrition curriculum is a major part of education at these schools. This education provides a healthy nutritional intervention program, which should lead to healthy eating behaviors and a healthier population in the future.

### Limitations

This study has some limitations, including no one-year follow-up data analyzed; the researcher believes that adding 12-month post-intervention data would contribute to the promising outcomes. The use of self-administered questionnaires may also be a weakness, since participants need to recall their food consumption or availability at home the week before; this may provide a biased report of the results. Also, this study is at risk of a type I error, which may increase with further analyses. The randomization of 6 out of 13 schools was not as desirable as full randomization, although randomized studies are not always unbiased or fully reliable. Also, regarding N/A values indicated in Table 6 for "Elevated TC"; For TC, the researcher re-ran the model; only five subjects changed status, all in the control group. The confidence interval is extremely wide, reflecting the problem with fitting this model to the data (the predictors were the baseline status, gender, school and control/intervention group status). The p-value was 0.407; the difference in changes between the two groups was not statistically significant. Given that there was a change for only three individuals, a model taking into account school, gender and previous status cannot be computed (there are more parameters than data points). The model would not converge. And under "Obese ( $\geq$ 95th percentile for Body Mass Index) vs. Normal" variable in the same table, the N/A occurred because only one person shifted categories (the 13 => 14 in the control group); again there were not enough changes to fit the desired model.

### Conclusion

The KQ program appears to be successful in improving the potential health of children and adolescents in rural South Dakota schools. The improvements of some DC in IG are encouraging findings. Also, KQ provides reinforcement for nutrition and physical education in the school setting, is able to significantly put healthy outcomes into practice, and improve some of the health parameters that prevent childhood obesity. Further observational research should focus on how these children response and interact during intervention and ensure sustainability of the program.

### **Implications for School Health**

School administrators should be asked to help sustain the KQ program in South Dakota. This study's findings support the need for health programs in the schools in order to fight obesity. The Federal law to apply such school-based programs should also be addressed in the school settings and to prevent any conflict with their education. Since this research shows a promising health potential for children and adolescents, more programs could be developed, while providing a useful addition to the literature and body of practice. Long-term school and family-based programs, along with further qualitative research, would be created to insure more interaction between schools, families and children. Adding a one- or two-year follow-up protocol while closely monitoring the children would ensure a lasting positive health intervention.

Table 1 Outcome variables and cut off values

Variable	Cut off values				
Body Mass Index	<ul> <li>BMI &lt; 5th percentile is considered underweight</li> <li>≥ 5th to &lt; 85th percentile is a healthy weight</li> <li>≥ 85th to &lt; 95th percentile is overweight</li> <li>≥ 95th percentile is considered obese</li> </ul>				
Anemia	• <11.5 g/dl				
Elevated Total Cholesterol	• $\geq 200 \text{ mg/dl}$				
Low High Density Lipoprotein	• < 35 mg/dl				
Blood Pressure	<ul> <li>Normal values based on BP tables for children percentile equal or more than 90th to less than 95<sup>th</sup></li> </ul>				

Table 2 KidQuest Curriculum Components

**Nutrition Lessons:** Six different 50 minute hand on nutrition education activities are provided in the classroom on a 1 or 2 times per month basis over the course of 4-6 months.

## 1. Introduction, Label Lingo and Think Your Drink

\* Recognition of actual sugar content In beverages with healthier drink options presented.

## 2. Eating Out, Portion Sizes, and Snacks

\* Visit Mock restaurants and determine amount of fat and calories in various menu items.

\* Instruction on nutrition facts label and portion sizes as tools for choosing snacks.

## 3. Fruits and Veggies

\* Play fruit and veggie bingo and sample fruits and veggies ideal for healthy snack choices.

## 4. Grains and Breakfast

\* Recognition of the benefits of breakfast with an exercise on coming up with solutions to common excuses for skipping breakfast.

\* Team challenge activity related to healthy whole grain and breakfast choices.

## 5. Dairy Intake

\* Participants learn about the importance of not robbing their bones as they play "Bone Banking" game similar in fashion to the popular Monopoly board game.

6. Consumer Connections, Media Messages, and Wrap-up

\* Food advertising is presented with the tools needed to determine fact from fiction.

## **Physical Activity Lesson:**

\* Physical activity lessons benefits with tips on how to incorporate the activities outside of the classroom follow each nutrition lesson. 10-15 minute physical activities are conducted.

**<u>Quest Challenges:</u>** Participants can pick 1 challenge to take home between nutrition lessons.

\* The challenge choices are: increasing calcium, decreasing junk food, eating breakfast, increasing fruits and veggies, think your drink, whole grains, decrease screen time and physical activity. Tips for meeting the challenge along with goal setting are provided.

\* KidQuest Bucks are awarded for attempting a challenge and turing in a challenge calendar with extra bucks awarded for discussing the challenge with the participant's parent.

\* Health and physical activity related rewards can be purchased with KidQuest Bucks program.

## Parent Newsletter:

\* Provided four times during the program covering topics presented In the nutrition lessons.

Total	CG* (N=88)	IG** (N=166)
54.6%	51.2%	56.4%
0.8%	0.0%	1.2%
70.1%	68.2%	71.1%
93.2%	95.3%	92.1%
82.9%	92.2%	77.0%
6.7%	4.7%	8.0%
0.6%	0.0%	1.0%
2.4%	0.0%	4.0%
4.3%	1.6%	6.0%
3.0%	1.6%	4.0%
	Total 54.6% 0.8% 70.1% 93.2% 82.9% 6.7% 0.6% 2.4% 4.3% 3.0%	Total         CG* (N=88)           54.6%         51.2%           0.8%         0.0%           70.1%         68.2%           93.2%         95.3%           82.9%         92.2%           6.7%         4.7%           0.6%         0.0%           2.4%         0.0%           4.3%         1.6%           3.0%         1.6%

Table 3 Characteristics of participants by group

\*CG: Control group \*\*IG: Intervention group

	CG**		IG***		P-Value for Difference at	
Variable/Scale	Mean±SD N		Mean±SD	Ν	Baseline	
Age	10.9±0.7	88	$10.8 \pm 0.8$	166	0.243	
Body Mass Index	$20.6 \pm 5.1$	85	$20.3 \pm 4.4$	165	0.676	
BMI Percentile	64.3±30.7	86	$65.6 \pm 28.7$	164	0.758	
Systolic Blood Pressure	114.7±13.3	86	109.1±11.4	164	0.001*	
Diastolic Blood Pressure	70.3±11.7	86	65.6±10.1	164	0.001*	
Total Cholesterol	$155.6 \pm 27.0$	84	$156.8 \pm 30.2$	152	0.592	
High Density Lipoproteins	47.4±14.3	84	46.3±15.3	152	0.949	
Hemoglobin	13.7±1.1	85	$13.9 \pm 1.2$	155	0.823	

Table 4 Characteristics of Participants at Baseline - Measurements for Control and Intervention Groups

\*Indicates a statistically significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ )

\*\*CG: Control group \*\*\*IG: Intervention group

Variabla	<b>CG</b> **		IG***	P-Value for – Difference in Change	
v al lable	Mean Change ± SD	Mean Change ± N SD			
Height	$2.4{\pm}1.4$	85	$2.8 \pm 1.4$	163	0.281
Weight	$2.0{\pm}2.1$	84	$2.7 \pm 2.2$	163	0.109
Body Mass Index	$0.2 \pm 0.9$	84	$0.4 \pm .9$	163	0.229
Body Mass Index Percentile	0.5±6.3	84	1.1±7.3	163	0.529
Systolic Blood Pressure	-3.4±12.6	85	0.8±11.8	161	0.597
Diastolic Blood Pressure	-2.8±12.3	85	2.6±12.3	161	0.226
Total Cholesterol	$-8.2\pm20.3$	83	$-12.5\pm25.9$	147	0.317
HDL Cholesterol	$-2.2\pm9.9$	83	$-2.5 \pm 10.2$	147	0.911
Hemoglobin	-0.1±1.1	84	$0.1{\pm}1.4$	146	0.624

Table 5 Mean Value Changes from Baseline to Post-Intervention for Students in the Control, Intervention Groups

\*Indicates a statistically significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ) \*\*CG: Control group \*\*\*IG: Intervention group

	**CG				***IG				Р-
Dietary Intake/Activity Variable	Baseline Int (6-		P Inter (6-M	ost- vention lonths)	Bas	Baseline		Post- Intervention (6-Months)	
	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	-
Whole grain cereal, wh	hole gra	ain bread	or whole	e grain cra	ackers				
Some consumption	30	68%	28	64%	80	65%	94	75%	.037*
Fresh, frozen, dried or	· cannee	d fruit (Do	) not cou	int juice)					
Some consumption	60	71%	50	60%	87	54%	109	68%	.143
Some consumption	39	46%	53	63%	67	42%	84	52%	204
Fresh, frozen or canne	d veget	ables	55	0570	07	1270	01	5270	.201
Some consumption	37	84%	35	80%	106	82%	105	84%	.099
Regular pop (not diet), count 100% fruit juice	, punch e or flav	, Kool-Aid ored wate	d®, spor er)	ts drinks,	, or othe	r fruit-fla	vored dr	rinks (Do	not
Some consumption French fries or chips	54	64%	47	56%	98	60%	94	58%	.699
Some consumption	29	35%	38	45%	83	52%	72	44%	.214
Ice-cream, sweet rolls,	dough	nuts, cook	ies, brov	wnies, pie	s or cake	es			
Some consumption <b>Candy</b>	30	36%	38	45%	79	50%	85	52%	.607
Some consumption Used Food Labels	39	47%	39	47%	86	53%	71	44%	.011*
Yes	9	35%	8	29%	6	40%	10	53%	.523
Vsed Food Labels Yes *Indicates a statistically **CG: Control Group	9 v signifio	35% cant differe	<u>8</u> ence (p ≤	29% < 0.05)	6		40%	40% 10	40% 10 53%

Table 6 Comparison of The Dietary Intake Differences in Changes From Baseline to Post-Intervention For Intervention and Control Groups

\*\*\*IG: Intervention Group

### REFERENCES

- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, & Flegal KM. Prevalence of Childhood and Adult Obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *JAMA*. 2014;311(8), 806-814.
- Skelton JA, Cook Stephen R, Auinger P, Klein Jonathan D, & Barlow, Sarah E. Prevalence and trends of severe obesity among US children and adolescents. *Academic Pediatrics*.2009;9-5, 322-9.
- South Dakota Department of Health DOH. (n.d.). School Height Weight Data Reports 2013-2014. <u>https://doh.sd.gov/documents/statistics/HeightWeight2013-</u> <u>2014.pdf</u>. Accessed July 25, 2015
- Nixon CA, Moore HJ, Douthwaite WW, Gibson EL, Vogele CC, Kreichauf SS, &Summerbell CD -2012). Identifying effective behavioural models and behaviour change strategies underpinning preschool- and school-based obesity prevention interventions aimed at 4-6-year-olds: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*. 2012; (13)106-117.
- Lakshman RR, Sharp SJ, Ong KK, & Forouhi NG. A novel school-based intervention to improve nutrition knowledge in children: cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMC Public Health*. 2010;(10)123-131.
- Story M. School-based approaches for preventing and treating obesity. *International J Of Obesity & Related Metabolic Disorders*, 1999;23s43.
- May A, Kuklina E, Yoon P. Prevalence of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors Among US Adolescents, 1999-2008. *Pediatrics*. 2012;129(6):1035-1041.

- Expert Panel on Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular Health and Risk Reduction in Children and Adolescents: Summary Report. *Pediatrics*. 2011;128S213-S256.
- Lawlor DA, Benfield L, Logue J, Tilling K, Howe LD. Association between general and central adiposity in childhood, and change in these, with cardiovascular risk factors in adolescence: prospective cohort study. *Bmj*. 2010;341:c6224.
- Tybor DJ, Lichtenstein AH, Dallal GE, Daniels SR, Must A. Independent effects of age-related changes in waist circumference and BMI z scores in predicting cardiovascular disease risk factors in a prospective cohort of adolescent females. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2011;(93): 392–401.
- Gopinath B, Baur LA, Garnett S, Pfund N, Burlutsky G. Body mass index and waist circumference are associated with blood pressure in preschoolaged children. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2011;(21): 351–7.
- 12. Falaschetti E, Hingorani AD, Jones A, Charakida M, Finer N. Adiposity and cardiovascular risk factors in a large contemporary population of pre-pubertal children. *Eur Heart J*. 2010;(31): 3063–72.
- Larsson C, Hernell O, Lind T. Moderately elevated body mass index is associated with metabolic variables and cardiovascular risk factors in Swedish children. *Acta Paediatr.* 2011;100: 102–8.
- 14. Weiss R, Dziura J, Burgert TS, Tamborlane WV, Taksali SE. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. *N Engl J Med.* 2004;350: 2362–74.
- Maximova K, O'Loughlin J, Paradis G, Hanley JA, Lynch J. Changes in anthropometric characteristics and blood pressure during adolescence. *Epidemiology*. 2010;(21): 324–31.
- 16. Bekkers MB, Brunekreef B, Koppelman GH, Kerkhof M, de Jongste JC, Smit HA, Wijga AH. BMI and Waist Circumference; Cross-Sectional and Prospective Associations with Blood Pressure andCholesterol in 12-Year-Olds. <u>PLoS One</u>. 2012;7-12:e51801.
- Johnson WD, Kroon JM, Greenway FL, Bouchard C, Ryan D, Katzmarzyk PT. Prevalence of Risk Factors for Metabolic Syndrome in Adolescents: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey -NHANES, 2001-2006. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2009;163-4:371-377.
- Sun SS, Liang R, Huang TT. Childhood obesity predicts adult metabolic syndrome: the Fels Longitudinal Study. *J Pediatr*. 2008;152-2:191–200.
- Morrison JA, Friedman LA, Wang P, Glueck CJ. Metabolic syndrome in childhood predicts adult metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus 25 to 30 years later. *J Pediatr*. 2008;152-2:201-206.
- 20. Ekelund U, Anderssen S, Andersen L, Riddoch C, Sardinha L, Luan J, Froberg K, and Brage S. Prevalence and correlates of the metabolic syndrome in a population-based sample of European youth. *Am J Clin N*. 2009;(89):90-96.
- 21. Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Wattigney WA, Berenson GS. Adolescent overweight is associated with adult overweight and related multiple cardiovascular risk factors: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Metabolism*. 1996;45-2:235–240.

- 22. Manios Y, Moschonis G, Chrousos GP, Lionis C, Mougios V, Kantilafti M, Tzotzola V, Skenderi KP, Petridou A, Tsalis G, Sakellaropoulou A, Skouli G, Katsarou C. The double burden of obesity and iron deficiency on children and adolescents in Greece: the Healthy Growth Study. *J Hum Nutr Diet*. 2012;doi: 10.1111/jhn.12025.
- 23. Grimes CA, Riddel LJ, Campbell KJ, & Nowson CA. Dietary Salt Intake, Sugar-Sweetened Beverage Consumption, and Obesity Risk. *Pediatrics*. 2013; *131*-1.
- Wansink B, Shimizu M, & Brumberg A. Association of Nutrient-Dense Snack Combinations With Calories and Vegetable Intake. Pediatrics. 2013;131-1, 22-29.
- 25. Reedy, J., & Krebs-Smith, S. M. -2010). Dietary Sources of Energy, Solid Fats, and Added Sugars among Children and Adolescents in the United States. *J Of The Am Diet Assoc*. 2010; 110-10, 1477-1484.
- 26. Bergan T. Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Decreases In Fifth Grade Students Following The Teen Taught Kidquest Program. South Dakota State University. 2013; ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.
- 27. Graumann J. Evaluation of teen-taught KidQuest: A school based nutrition and physical activity program for 5th and 6th graders in rural South Dakota. South Dakota State University. 2010; ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. <u>http://search.proquest.com/docview/787890678?accountid=28594.</u> Accessed\_July 25, 2015.
- Jensen B, Kattelmann K, Ren C, Wey H. The Efficacy of KidQuest: A Nutrition and Physical Activity Curriculum for 5th and 6th Grade Youth. *J of Extention*. 2009;47-3, 3FEA4.

29. Family, Career and Community Leaders of America.

http://www.fcclainc.org/content/about-us/. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 30. Hoelscher DM, Day RS, Kelder SH, Ward JL. Reproducibility and validity of the secondary level School-Based Nutrition Monitoring student questionnaire. J Am Diet Assoc.2003;103:186-194.
- 31. National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP): Highlights of the Report of the Expert Panel on Blood Cholesterol Levels in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 1992;89(3), 495.
- 32. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Website. Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular Health and Risk Reduction in Children and Adolescents. <u>http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/cvd\_ped/index.htm</u>. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 33. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity. World Health Organization.

http://www.who.int/vmnis/indicators/haemoglobin.pdf. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 34. Shofan Y, Kedar O, Branski D, Berry E, & Wilschanski M. A school-based program of physical activity may prevent obesity. *Euro J Of Clin Nutr*. 2011;65-6, 768-770.
- 35. Thivel D, Isacco L, Lazaar N, Aucouturier J, Ratel S, Doré E, & Duché P. Effect of a 6-month school-based physical activity program on body composition and physical fitness in lean and obese schoolchildren. *Euro J Of Ped*, 2011;170-11, 1435-1443.
- 36. Children's BMI Tool for Schools. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Web Site.

http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/childrens\_BMI/tool\_for\_school s.html. Accessed July 25, 2015.

 BMI for Children and Teens. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Web Site.

http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/childrens\_bmi/about\_childrens\_ bmi.html#How%20is%20BMI%20used%20with%20children%20and%20teens. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- 38. Blood Pressure Tables for Children and Adolescents. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. <u>http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-</u> pro/guidelines/current/hypertension-pediatric-jnc-4/blood-pressure-tables#. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 39. Lazaar N, Aucouturier J, Ratel S, Rance M, Meyer M, & Duché P. Effect of physical activity intervention on body composition in young children: influence of body mass index status and gender. *Acta Paediatrica*. 2007; 96-9, 1321-1325.
- 40. Levy T, Ruán C, Castellanos C, Coronel A, Aguilar A and Humarán I.
  Effectiveness of a diet and physical activity promotion strategy on the prevention of obesity in Mexican school children. *BMC Pub Health.* 2012; 12-1, 152-164.
- Yetter G. Exercise-based school obesity prevention programs: An overview. *Psyc* In The Schools. 2009; 46-8, 739-747.
- 42. Tucker S, Lanningham-Foster L, Murphy J, Olsen G, Orth K, Voss J, & Lohse C.
  A School Based Community Partnership for Promoting Healthy Habits for Life. J Of Comm Health. 2011; 36-3, 414-422.

- 43. Harrell TK, Davy BM, Stewart JL, & King DS. Effectiveness of a School-based Intervention to Increase Health Knowledge of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors Among Rural Mississippi Middle School Children. *Southern Med J*. 2005;98(12), 1173-1180.
- 44. Rito AI, Carvalho MA, Ramos C, & Breda J. Program Obesity Zero (POZ) a community-based intervention to address overweight primary-school children from five Portuguese municipalities. *Pub Health Nutr.* 2013; 16(6), 1043-1051.
- 45. Forneris T, Fries E, Meyer A, Buzzard M, Uguy S, Ramakrishnan R, & Danish S. Results of a Rural School-Based Peer-Led Intervention for Youth: Goals for Health. *J Of School Health*. Feb 2010; *80*(2), 57-65.
- 46. Angelopoulos PD, Milionis HJ, Grammatikaki E, Moschonis G, & Manios Y.
  Changes in BMI and blood pressure after a school based intervention: The
  CHILDREN study. *Euro J Of Pub Health*, 2009; *19*(3), 319-325.

Chapter 4

# EFFECTIVENESS OF KIDQUEST: TEEN TEACHERS VS SUPPLEMENTAL NUTRITION ASSISTANCE PROGRAM EDUCATION TEACHERS ON DIETARY AND HEALTH OUTCOMES FOR SOUTH DAKOTA SCHOOL CHILDREN

NAYEF BUMARYOUM

Abstract: Nutrition and health outcomes in rural South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade students were evaluated to determine which group of teachers resulted in better student outcomes. The two teacher groups were teen teachers (TT) and Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education - Educators (SNAP-ED). Outcomes evaluated were dietary choices (DC), body mass index (BMI), lipid levels, blood pressure (BP) and hemoglobin (Hb). The KidQuest (KQ) nutrition and physical activity curriculum was implemented in seven schools (5 TT and 2 SNAP-ED taught). Outcomes were obtained at baseline and postprogram in 166 participants (130 TT and 36 SNAP-ED taught). The mean Hb level increased significantly in students trained by the TT group as compared to the SNAP-ED group; The difference (mean for TT students minus mean for SNAP-ED students) was 0.6 (95% CI: 0.11, 1.75). Percentage in overweight, the odds of improvement were significantly higher for the SNAP-ED group (odds ratio=0.01; 95% CI=0.00, 0.73, p=0.037). Percentage in overweight and obese combined, the odds of improvement were significantly higher for the SNAP-ED group (odds ratio = 0.01; 95% CI = 0.00, 0.98, p=0.049). No statistically significant differences were found in dietary intake changes between the two teacher types. Overall, efficacy varied based on teacher type. Program success was demonstrated and should be implemented and evaluated on a larger scale.

# Keywords: teen teachers, SNAP-ED Educators, KidQuest, Body Mass Index, obesity, blood pressure, anemia

#### **INTRODUCTION**

In 2011, (31.8%, 16.9%) of youth in the U.S. were considered overweight/obese (1). Statistics from the South Dakota Department of Health (SDDOH) in 2013/2014 revealed that within children ages 9-11, 17.4% were overweight and 17.9% were obese. For children ages 12-14, 17.7% were overweight and 17.4% were obese (2).

The obesity epidemic is on the rise among children and adolescents due to increased sedentary lifestyle, larger portion sizes served at restaurants, increased frequency of dining out and increased consumption of high sugar drinks (3). Experts agree that lifestyle changes such as eating behaviors, dietary intake and physical activity are contributing factors of obesity (4). Obesity prevention goals should focus on both primordial prevention (preventing the development of risk factors) and primary prevention (managing children at increased risk because of identified risk factors) (4).

Previous data indicate that informal nutrition education effectively promotes positive lifestyle changes in youth with results demonstrated in body mass index (BMI) and lowered fat intake (5).

Teen teaching provides the highest impact when implemented within the schools' health education program and has positively affected diet modification, BMI, eating behaviors, self-efficacy and goal-setting (6). Teen teaching has been used successfully to change behaviors, knowledge and attitudes of students (7).

The Supplemental Nutrition Assistant Program-Education (SNAP-ED) program, with training focusing on using MyPlate and Dietary Guidelines for Americans, is designed to improve healthy choices and promote active lifestyles within eligible participants (8). The program has resulted in significantly improved daily fruit and vegetable consumption, willingness to try new fruits and vegetables, availability of fruits and vegetables at home, and increased fat free milk consumption (8, 9, 10). The SNAP-ED minimum qualification required for educators is a high school education at this point.

The KidQuest (KQ) program has previously demonstrated a significant increase in breakfast consumption, dairy consumption, food label knowledge and frequency of reading food labels (11). Also, KQ positive outcomes included significant decreased low density lipoprotein outcomes among intervention group (12).

Using the KidQuest nutrition and physical activity curriculum, the purpose of this study was to determine whether the Teen Teachers (TT) or the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education - Educators (SNAP-ED) were more effective in improving dietary choices (DC), body mass index, lipid levels, blood pressure (BP) and hemoglobin (Hb) within rural South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> graders using baseline/post-intervention data.

#### METHODOLOGY

#### **Study Design**

The study used a clustered baseline design and compared pre- and post- KQ program data obtained from rural South Dakota 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> graders. Results were used to determine if the TT or the SNAP-ED were more effective in obtaining program objectives. The study was approved by South Dakota State University (SDSU) Human Subjects Review Board.

#### **School and Participant Selection**

One hundred sixty six 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade students were invited from seven elementary schools to participate via parents' conference day and/or distribution of the KQ program invitation brochure being mailed to parents/guardians through school administrations. The five schools that utilized TT were randomly selected. The two additional schools that utilized SNAP-ED were selected based on their willingness to participate. The seven participating elementary schools were located in rural eastern South Dakota and were within 125 miles of SDSU, Brookings, South Dakota.

#### **Program Teachers**

Teen teachers taught nutrition and physical activity lessons within five schools. The teens were recruited through Family, Career, and Community Leaders of America (FCCLA) teachers (Family, Career and Community Leaders of America). Teen teachers were provided three hours of training on teaching techniques, KQ program instructions, nutrition and physical activities lessons, and scheduling.

Extension SNAP-ED taught the nutrition lessons in two schools. In South Dakota, extension SNAP-ED teachers taught the students at some KidQuest schools. SNAP-ED

teachers received previous nutrition training as part of their job; they were required to attend bi-annual professional development training. Also, they receive at a minimum 20 hours per year of professional development related training related to nutrition, physical activity. They are also paid to do the teaching as part of their employment. The same curriculum was taught by both SNAP-ED and TT using hands on nutrition education and physical activities provided in the classroom, 1-2 times/month over the course of 4-6 months. The following topics were covered in the six lessons: (1) Introduction, Label Lingo and Think Your Drink, (2) Eating Out, Portion Sizes and Snacks, (3) Fruits and Veggies, (4) Grains and Breakfast, (5) Dairy Intake, (6) Consumer Connections, Media Messages and Wrap-up. A physical activity lesson was incorporated into all six sessions. **Instruments** 

#### mstruments

#### Youth Survey Form

Students completed the KQ Youth Nutrition and Physical Activity Surveys (KYNPAS) prior to implementation of the KQ program and post program. The KYNPAS questions were adapted from the School, Physical Activity and Nutrition Survey (SPAN) tool (13) and from Girls Health Enrichment Multisite Studies (GEMS). Detailed survey instructions were read in class to all participants by trained interviewer. The KYNPAS asked for the following demographic information: age, grade, gender, and ethnicity. Some items asked for the number of times youth ate specific foods the day before, providing some highlights on their food patterns. Participants were also asked about healthy food consumption, including serving and portion sizes, use of food labels, and breakfast habits. Questions also covered specific nutrition facts on food labels, such as amounts of fat and sugar, whether meal times existed in their family during a week, nutrition behaviors such as cooking or snack suggestions, and whether any physical activities were done with any family members during the past week. Finally, the survey asked about food availability and if youth had certain food items during the past week in their home, such as fruits, dairy products, cereals, processed foods, and sweet or fatty foods. It was explained to all participants that the survey would not affect their grades or ability to participate in the KQ activities. They were assured that all data obtained would be kept confidential.

The reliability of the youth survey was evaluated using 52 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade students. They were given a second survey seven days after the post survey was completed. Cronbach alpha indicators for internal consistency showed 85 of the variables had a reliability of 0.70 and higher, 11% between 0.58-0.69, and 4% (only one variable) less than 0.50 (11).

#### Anthropometrics and Biochemical Assessments

Standardized cutoff and reference points were used for all measurements. Height was obtained to the nearest 0.1 centimeters using the Adult/Child Shorrboard. Weight was obtained to the nearest 0.1 Kilogram using the Seca Scale 890. Anthropometrics obtained are listed in Table 1. Desired BMI cut-off values were calculated and categorized using the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) charts (13, 14, 15, 16). Blood pressure was obtained using the OMRON Intelli Sense® Digital BP Monitor. Blood pressure categories (Table 1) were based on standardized age specific measurements (17). Biochemical assessments were determined using finger prick blood samples. Lipid levels cut off values (Table 1) were based on the age specific standards set by the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute and National Cholesterol Education Program (18, 19). Hemoglobin values were obtained using the HemoCue Photometer Hb201+ (Angelholm, Sweden). Anemia was diagnosed using age-specific hemoglobin cutoff values (Table 1) (20). Students' parents were contacted the day before measurements were obtained and were reminded of the detailed protocol instructions.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

To evaluate the statistical significance of possible differences in mean values at baseline between students from the two teacher types, a random effects regression model was fit for each variable. The student's value at baseline was an independent variable; the teacher type (SNAP-ED vs TT) was a predictor. School was entered as a random effect, to adjust for clustering effects which were to be expected (i.e., students in the same school should behave more similarly than students in different schools). The null hypothesis was that the coefficient for the teacher type variable was equal to zero (i.e., no mean difference in change between students for the two teacher groups); the alternate hypothesis was that the coefficient was not equal to zero (i.e., that there were differences in the mean change). Since the regression model adjusts for school-to-school differences, the regression estimate will not necessarily agree with the raw difference between mean scores. For dichotomized variables (categories), a logistic mixed model was used, set up in the same manner. The null hypothesis was that the odds ratio for differences between students from the two teacher types was equal to 1.

Data analyses were conducted using SPSS<sup>®</sup> statistical software (IBM<sup>®</sup>, Version 20.0, 2012) and Stata/IC Version 12.1 for Windows<sup>®</sup>. The criterion for assessing statistical

significance was a p-value < 0.05; all tests were two-tailed (looking for either increases or decreases).

#### RESULTS

Of the 166 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> grade students invited to participate from 7 elementary schools, 66% agreed to participate (47% male). Within the TT group 45% were male and from the SNAP-ED group 53% were male. Additional characteristics of participants are listed in Table 2, which is organized by teacher type group, created by the way that the waves of the study were done. A flow chart of the study participants also shown in Figure 2.

Health characteristics were compared between the two groups at baseline (Table 3). There were no statistically significant differences in mean values at baseline between the groups.

#### Mean Value Changes from Baseline to Post-Intervention

Characteristics were reassessed at approximately 6 months post-intervention. The change from baseline was calculated and compared between participants from the two teacher types (Table 4). When assessing mean value changes, hemoglobin was the only outcome to have a statistically significantly different change from baseline to post-intervention in students from the two teacher type groups (Table 4). Mean hemoglobin increased significantly in students trained by the TT group as compared to the SNAP-ED group. The difference (mean for TT students minus mean for SNAP-ED students) was 0.6 (95% CI: 0.11, 1.75).

## Change in Categorical Medical Variables from Baseline to 6 Months Post-Intervention

The statistical significance of differences in changes (from baseline to 6 months postintervention) was assessed by logistic regression. The dependent variable (outcome) was the status at the 6-month follow-up time. The baseline status and teacher type were used as covariates; the school was used as a random effect, to control for school differences and possible clustering effects.

The measures were dichotomized, classified as normal/abnormal (0/1, respectively). The model was set up so that the odds ratio compared changes in the SNAP-ED students to the changes in TT students (the SNAP-ED group was coded as 1; the TT group was coded as 0). An odds ratio of less than one indicates that there was a greater improvement for the SNAP-ED students than for the TT students.

There were two post program statistically significant changes between the SNAP-ED and TT groups and both reflected a positive change within the SNAP-ED group. Percentage in overweight, the odds of improvement were significantly higher for the SNAP-ED group (odds ratio= 0.01; 95% CI= 0.00, 0.73, p=0.037). Percentage in overweight and obese combined, the odds of improvement were significantly higher for the SNAP-ED group (odds ratio= 0.01; 95% CI= 0.00, 0.98, p=0.049). (Table 5).

## Dietary intake change between teacher groups from baseline to 6 months postintervention

Survey responses were dichotomized, and classified as 'no consumption' vs. 'some consumption' for data analysis. Results of change in dietary intake between teacher groups from baseline to post-intervention revealed no statistically significant differences between the two teacher types (Table 6).

#### DISCUSSION

In classrooms, teachers have a great impact on children's education. Previous studies indicate that using an informal nutrition technique most effectively promotes lifestyle changes for youth and encourages teachers to provide more in-class discussion regarding the importance of nutrition (5). In this research, we hypothesized that the baseline BMI, BP, Hb, lipid levels and DC would not be statistically significantly different between the two groups: the students taught by the teen teacher and those taught by SNAP-ED teachers. The two groups were very similar at baseline, which would support valid results at 6 months (Table 3).

The current study found a significant increase in the Hb level within the teen teachers' groups (Table 4). This finding is in agreement with the literature, which has reported that iron deficiency anemia was significantly reduced among nutrition education program students after intervention taught by teachers, even though the study does not explain the differences between the groups due to type of teaching (21). A literature search found no previous intervention studies which compared Hb outcomes among adolescents taught by a these two groups of teachers (TT and SNAP-ED), so this will be the first such study.

By looking at change in prevalence of abnormal values of medical variables from baseline to 6 months post-intervention, this study shows two statistically significant changes (from baseline to 6-months post program) between the SNAP-ED and TT groups. Both reflected a positive change within the SNAP-ED group relative to the TT group. Percentage in overweight, the odds of improvement were significantly higher for the SNAP-ED group (odds ratio= 0.01; 95% CI= 0.00, 0.73, p=0.037). Percentage in overweight and obese combined, the odds of improvement were significantly higher for the SNAP-ED group (odds ratio= 0.01; 95% CI= 0.00, 0.98, p=0.049), respectively (Table 5). This finding is in agreement with the literature, which has reported where students in a school-based program taught by trained nutritionists have shown significant improvements towards a healthy weight category after intervention (22); and another obesity prevention program which showed significant results in normal BMI values post intervention taught by registered dietitians (23) and significant reduction in BMI in post intervention program taught by registered dietitians (24).

Researchers found significant improvements in attitude, self-efficacy, preference and knowledge scores about improving vegetable intake in a school-based intervention curriculum taught in SNAP-ED settings. The mean scores for the intervention group improved in vegetable preference, increasing by  $1.56 (\pm 5.80)$  points, whereas the mean scores for control group increased only  $0.08 (\pm 4.82)$  points (25). Another study noted an improvement in health knowledge and self-efficacy. Teen teaching was found to be effective in delivering nutrition education to children taught by teen mentors, resulting in positive health outcomes and knowledge (6); although both studies (6, 25) have not studied and compared teaching delivery methods; and in contrast to the current study finding of non-significant improvement in dietary intake in the students taught by both SNAP-ED and TT; even some non-significance outcomes of dietary intake exist (Table 6).

The current study is the first to observe and compare differences in delivery teaching methods is as effective using Social Cognitive Theory. A study limitation was the unequal sample size of the groups taught by TT vs. SNAP-ED teachers, including the number of schools (5 vs. 2) and of participants (130 vs. 36). Additionally, only 5 out of 7 schools were randomly selected, which may produce a later bias.

#### **Conclusions and Suggestions**

The KQ program provided by TT and SNAP-ED is shown to be an effective and innovative approach to improving the health outcomes of the children and adolescents in these rural South Dakota schools in responding to obesity epidemic. This study suggests that the teen teachers and SNAP-ED educators facilitated significant improvements among the 5<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> graders' health parameters Hb and BMI.

#### **Future Directions**

Building healthier schools in the future is needed, and can be done by encouraging obesity prevention school policies and programs through federal regulations. Matching the right mentor to groups of children is very important. Also, adding qualitative research elements and more characteristic measurements to the research can increase the outcome measures to reflect positive health and nutritional behavior. Future research is needed to compare the teaching efficacy of teen teachers and other paraprofessional teachers in order to validate the most effective methods.

## TABLES

Variable	Cut off values				
Body Mass Index	<ul> <li>BMI &lt; 5th percentile is considered underweight</li> <li>≥ 5th to &lt; 85th percentile is a healthy weight</li> <li>≥ 85th to &lt; 95th percentile is overweight</li> <li>≥ 95th percentile is considered obese</li> </ul>				
Anemia	• <11.5 g/dl				
Elevated Total Cholesterol	• $\geq 200 \text{ mg/dl}$				
Low High Density Lipoprotein	• < 35 mg/dl				
Blood Pressure	<ul> <li>Normal values based on BP tables for children percentile equal or more than 90th to less than 95<sup>th</sup></li> </ul>				

Table 1 Outcome variables and cut off values

Student Characteristics	Total	TT* (N=130)	SNAP-ED** (N=36)
Urban (vs. Rural)	56%	79.6%	20.4%
Use Tobacco	2%	0.0%	5.6%
Grade $(5^{\text{th}} \text{ vs. } 6^{\text{th}})$	71%	72.3%	66.7%
Computer at home	92%	90.7%	92.2%
Ethnicity			
Caucasian	77%	71.9%	86.1%
American Indian	8%	9.4%	5.6%
Asian	1%	0.0%	2.8%
African American	4%	4.7%	2.8%
Mexican American	6%	7.8%	2.8%
Other	4%	6.3%	0.0%

Table 2 Characteristics of participants by teacher type

\*TT: Teen Teachers

Variable	TT**	SNAP-ED*	P-Value for Difference at Baseline		
	Mean±SD	Ν	Mean±SD	Ν	
Age (years)	10.8±0.8	130	$10.8 \pm 0.9$	36	0.540
Body Mass Index (BMI)	$20.3 \pm 4.4$	129	$20.3 \pm 4.2$	36	0.895
BMI Percentile	$65.8 \pm 28.5$	129	$65.5 \pm 29.9$	36	0.984
Systolic Blood Pressure	109.1±11.6	128	$109.4{\pm}10.6$	36	0.877
Diastolic Blood Pressure	66.2±10.6	128	$63.9 \pm 8.0$	36	0.238
Total Cholesterol	$158.6 \pm 30.1$	120	$150.1 \pm 30.0$	32	0.185
High Density Lipoproteins	$44.8 \pm 14.8$	120	51.9±16.2	32	0.230
Hemoglobin	13.9±1.1	123	13.6±1.3	32	0.602

Table 3 Baseline Characteristics for Students Taught by TT and SNAP-ED Teachers

\*Indicates a statistically significant difference (p  $\leq$  0.05).

\*\*TT: Teen Teachers

Variable	TT Group	)**	SNAP-E Group**	P-Value for		
	Mean Change ± SD	Ν	Mean Change ± SD	Ν	Difference in Change	
Body Mass Index (BMI)	0.5 <u>+</u> 0.9	127	0.2 <u>+</u> 0.7	36	0.093	
BMI Percentile	1.2 <u>+</u> 7.5	127	0.7 <u>+</u> 6.4	36	0.762	
Systolic Blood Pressure	1.0 <u>+</u> 12.1	125	0.1 <u>+</u> 11.1	36	0.683	
Diastolic Blood Pressure	2.4 <u>+</u> 13.4	125	3.1 <u>+</u> 7.8	36	0.651	
Total Cholesterol	-15.2 <u>+</u> 26.2	116	-2.6 <u>+</u> 22.2	31	0.064	
High Density Lipoproteins	-2.0 <u>+</u> 10.2	116	-4.7 <u>+</u> 10.4	31	0.618	
Hemoglobin	0.2 <u>+</u> 1.4	115	-0.4 <u>+</u> 1.4	31	0.034*	

Table 4 Mean Value Changes from Baseline to Post-Intervention for Students Taught by TT as compared to those Taught by SNAP-ED

\*Indicates a statistically significant difference (p  $\leq$  0.05).

\*\*TT: Teen Teachers

	<b>TT</b> **					SNAP-I	E <b>D</b> **	*		
	Pos Interve Baseline (6-Mo		Post- rvention Months)	ost- vention onths) Baseline		Post- Interventio n (6- Months)				
Variable		% of		% of		% of		% of	OR	<b>D</b> 1
Elevated Systolic Blood Pressure	<u> </u>	28.1%	<u>N</u> 26	20.6%	<u>N</u> 12	33.3%	<u>N</u> 7	<b>Group</b> 19.4%	(95%CI) 0.72 (0.25,2.10)	0.540
Elevated Diastolic Blood Pressure	23	18.0%	27	21.4%	2	5.6%	6	16.7%	0.87 (0.32,2.37)	0.783
Low Hemoglobin	1	0.8%	2	1.7%	1	3.1%	3	9.7%	6.06 (0.97, 38.22)	0.070
Percentage in Overweight (≥85th - < 95th percentile for Body Mass Index)	19	18.6%	21	20.6%	5	17.9%	3	10.7%	0.01* (0.00,0.73)	0.037
Percentage in Obese (≥ 95th percentile for Body Mass Index)	21	21.0%	21	21.0%	7	23.3%	7	23.3%	N/A (no ch either gr	nange in roup)
Percentage in Overweight or Obese combined (≥ 85th - ≥95th percentile for Body Mass Index)	45	34.9%	46	36.2%	13	36.1%	11	30.6%	0.01* (0.00,0.98)	0.049

Table 5 Change in Categorical Medical Variables from Baseline to 6 Months Post-Intervention

\*Indicates a statistically significant difference ( $p \le 0.05$ ).

\*\*TT: Teen Teachers

	TT Group**										
			•	Post-							
			Inte	ervention			Intervention				
	Ba	aseline	(6-Months)		Baseline		(6-)				
<b>Dietary Intake</b>									Р-		
Variable	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Value		
Whole grain cereal, whole grain bread or whole grain crackers											
Some	05	69 00/	02	74 40/	24	6670/	20	92 20/	0 107		
Consumption	85	08.0%	93	/4.4%	24	00./%	30	83.3%	0.107		
Fresh, frozen, dr	ried o	r canned f	ruit (D	o not coun	t juice	e)					
Consumption	64	51.6%	81	65.3%	23	63.9%	28	77.8%	0.194		
F											
<b>100% fruit juice</b> Some											
Consumption	50	40.0%	62	49.6%	17	47.2%	22	61.1%	0.643		
<b>Fresh, frozen or</b> Some Consumption	<b>canno</b> 72	ed vegetab 57.6%	oles 69	55.2%	22	61.1%	24	66.7%	0.215		
Regular pop (no (Do not count 10	t diet) 0% fi	), punch, F ruit iuice d	Kool-A	id®, sports	drink	s, or othe	r fruit-	flavored dı	rinks		
Some	0 / 0 11	and Juneo			,						
Consumption	77	61.1%	71	56.3%	21	58.3%	23	63.9%	0.633		
French fries or c Some	hips										
Consumption	65	51.6%	55	43.7%	18	54.5%	15	45.5%	0.897		
<b>Ice-cream, sweet</b> Some	t rolls,	, doughnu	ts, coo	kies, browi	nies, pi	ies or cake	es				
Consumption	58	46.4%	68	54.4%	21	63.6%	14	42.4%	0.119		
<b>Candy</b> Some											
Consumption	65	52.0%	52	41.6%	21	58.3%	19	52.8%	0.727		
*Indicates a statis	stically	y significar	nt diffe	rence $(p < 0)$	0.05).						

Table 6 Change in Dietary Intake Between Teacher Groups from Baseline to Post-Intervention

\*\*TT: Teen Teachers

#### REFERENCES

- Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, & Flegal KM. Prevalence of Childhood and Adult Obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *JAMA: J Of The Am Med Assoc*. 2014;*311*(8), 806-814.
- South Dakota Department of Health DOH. (n.d.). School Height Weight Data Reports 2013-2014. <u>https://doh.sd.gov/documents/statistics/HeightWeight2013-</u> <u>2014.pdf</u>. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- Lobstein T, Baur L, & Uauy R. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. *Obesity Reviews*. 2004; 54-85.
- Freedman DS, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, & Berenson GS. The Relation of Overweight to Cardiovascular Risk Factors Among Children and Adolescents: The Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatrics*. 1999; *103*(6), 1175.
- Zenzen W, Kridli S. Integrative Review of School-based Childhood Obesity Prevention Programs. *J of ped health care*: official publication of National Association of Pediatric Nurse Associates & Practitioners. 2009;36-4, 242-258.
- Smith LH. Piloting the use of teen mentors to promote a healthy diet and physical activity among children in Appalachia. *j For Specialists In Ped Nursing*. 2011;16(1), 16-26.
- Padget A, Bell ML, Shamblen SR, & Ringwalt C.EFFECTS ON HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS OF TEACHING A CROSS-AGE ALCOHOL PREVENTION PROGRAM. *j Of Drug Ed.* 2005; *35*(3), 201-216.
- U.S. Department of Agriculture (2014). Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Nutrition Education website.

http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/nutrition\_education/default.htm. Accessed July 25, 2015.

9. U.S. Department of Agriculture (2012), Economic Research Service.

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Education SNAP-Ed Plan Guidance. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture.

http://www.fns.usda.gov/sites/default/files/SNAPEdWave1\_Summary.pdf . Accessed July 25, 2015.

10. U.S. Department of Agriculture (2013). Supplemental Nutrition AssistanceProgram Education and Evaluation Study (Wave II). Washington, DC: U.S.Department of Agriculture.

 $\underline{http://www.fns.usda.gov/sites/default/files/SNAPEdWaveII\_Summary.pdf} \ .$ 

Accessed July 25, 2015.

- Jensen B, Kattelmann K, Ren C, Wey H. The Efficacy of KidQuest: A Nutrition and Physical Activity Curriculum for 5th and 6th Grade Youth. *J of Extention*. 2009; 47-3, 3FEA4.
- Bergan T. Low Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Decreases In Fifth Grade Students Following The Teen Taught Kidquest Program. South Dakota State University. 2013; *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses.*
- Hoelscher DM, Day R, Kelder SH, & Ward JL. Reproducibility and validity of the secondary level School-Based Nutrition Monitoring student questionnaire. *j* Of The Am Diet Assoc. 2003 103(2), 186-194.

- Jackson RT, Al-Hamad N, Prakash P, & Al-Somaie M. (2010). Age- and Gender-Specific Smoothed Waist Circumference Percentiles for Kuwaiti Adolescents. *Med Principles & Prac.* 2010; 19(4), 269-274.
- Children's BMI Tool for Schools. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Web Site.

http://www.cdc.gov/healthyweight/assessing/bmi/childrens\_BMI/tool\_for\_school s.html . Accessed July 25, 2015.

- Nihiser AJ, Lee SM, Wechsler H, McKenna M, Odom E, Reinold C, & Grummer-Strawn L. Body Mass Index Measurement in Schools. *J Of School Health*. 2007; 77(10), 651-671.
- Blood Pressure Tables for Children and Adolescents. National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. <u>http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-</u>

pro/guidelines/current/hypertension-pediatric-jnc-4/blood-pressure-tables#.

Accessed July 25, 2015.

- National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP): Highlights of the Report of the Expert Panel on Blood Cholesterol Levels in Children and Adolescents. *Pediatrics*. 1992; 89(3), 495.
- National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Website. Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular Health and Risk Reduction in Children and Adolescents. <u>http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/cvd\_ped/index.htm</u>. Accessed July 25, 2015.
- 20. World Health Organization. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity.

http://www.who.int/vmnis/indicators/haemoglobin.pdf. Accessed July 25, 2015.

- María N, García C, Maritza L, Rafael P. A Program of Nutritional Education in Schools Reduced the Prevalence of Iron Deficiency in Students. *Anemia*. 2011; Article ID 284050, 6 pages.
- 22. Rito AI, Carvalho MA, Ramos C, & Breda J. Program Obesity Zero (POZ) a community-based intervention to address overweight primary-school children from five Portuguese municipalities. *Pub Health Nutr*. 2013;16(6), 1043-1051.
- 23. Hollar D, Messiah SE, Lopez-Mitnik G, Hollar TL, Almon M, & Agatston AS. Effect of a Two-Year Obesity Prevention Intervention on Percentile Changes in Body Mass Index and Academic Performance in Low-Income Elementary School Children. *Am J Of Pub Health*. 2010;100(4), 646-653.
- 24. Savoye M, Shaw M, Dziura J, Tamborlane WV, Rose P, Guandalini C, & Caprio S. Effects of a Weight Management Program on Body Composition and Metabolic Parameters in Overweight Children. *JAMA*. 2007;297(24), 2697-2704.
- 25. Wall DE, Least C, Gromis J, & Lohse B. Nutrition Education Intervention Improves Vegetable-Related Attitude, Self-Efficacy, Preference, and Knowledge of Fourth-Grade Students. J Of School Health. 2012; 82(1), 37-43.

## Appendix A

	۲ Youth Nutrition and	(idQuest d Physical /	Activity	Survey
6 - 60	Name of School:		re-survey ost-survey	
1 What month wars you harm? (ai	role one) Jan Ech March April	May Jupo July	Aug Sont (	Dat Nav Daa
1. What month were you born? (ci	rcie one) Jan Feb March April	way June July	Aug Sept (	JCI NOV Dec
Date you were born? (circle one	e) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 18 19 20 21 22 23	9 10 11 12 24 25 26 2	2 13 14 7 28 29	15 16 17 30 31
What year were you born? (plea	ase write in the year)			
2. What grade are you in? (circle of	one) 4th 5th 6th 7th 8	th 9th 10th	11th 12t	h
3. Are you a boy or a girl?	4. How do you describe yourse	lf? (fill in only one	e)	
O Boy	O White, non-Hispanic, non-Latin	o O American	Indian O	Asian
O Girl	O Black or African American	O Alaska Na	ative O	Other
	O Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islan	ider O Mexican	American, Lati	no or Hispanic
		1	2	3 or MORE
These questions are a	bout YESTERDAY.		TIMES	
These questions are a           5. Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?	you eat or drink: cheese,			
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat <i>whole grain</i> cereal, <i>in</i> crackers?			
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juice)</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.)	None         TIMI           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0	o o	
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole gra</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juic)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice?	None         TIME           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0	o o o o o	
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole gra</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juic)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or	None         TIMI           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0	0 0 0 0 0 0	
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole gra</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juice</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fru</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat or drink: cheese, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or you drink any regular pop (not drinks, or other fruit-flavored it juice or flavored water.)	None         Time           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0		
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or mik?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole gra</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juic)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fruit)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fruit)</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or you drink any regular pop (not drinks, or other fruit-flavored it juice or flavored water.) you eat French fries or chips? ps, or other snack chips)	None         Time           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
<ul> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>5. Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>6. Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole gra</li> <li>7. Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juice</li> <li>8. Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> <li>10. Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fru</li> <li>11. Yesterday, how many times did (Include potato chips, tortilla chi rolls, doughnuts, cookies, brown</li> </ul>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or you eat fresh, frozen, or you drink any regular pop (not drinks, or other fruit-flavored it juice or flavored water.) you eat French fries or chips? ps, or other snack chips) you eat ice-cream, sweet nies, pies or cakes?	None         Time           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0		

Page 1 of 4

Please continue on the next page.  $\square$ 

14	I. How many days per week do you	1 day O	2 days O	3 days O	4 days O	5 days O	6 days ⊖	7 days O		
15	5. From which food group should yo	ou eat the <i>fewest</i> serving	js each	day?						
0	Breads, cereals, rice, pasta C	Vegetables O	Fruits		O Da	airy Pro	oducts	s (milk,	chees	se)
0	Meats, fish, poultry, beans, Oeggs, nuts	Fats, oils, sweets O	don't ki	now						
16	6. How many total servings of fruits	and vegetables should	you eat	each	day?					
0	At least 2 O At least 3	O At least 4	0	At lea	st 5		01	don't l	know	
17	<ol> <li>In the past week, have you used the healthy choice or a food you should be a should be should be should be a should be a should be a should be a shou</li></ol>	he Nutrition Facts food I Id eat less of?	abel to l	help y	ou deo	ide if t	he foo	od you	eat is	а
0	Yes O No	O Not Sure								
18	<ol> <li>Look at the amount of fat on each</li> </ol>	label. Select the food l	abel tha	t woul	d prov	ide the	e <u>least</u>	amou	nt of fa	<u>at</u> if
	• This one	• This one	$\bigtriangledown$				о тн	nis one	$\overline{\nabla}$	7
	O This one	O This one	$\bigtriangledown$		Nut	rition Fa	O T∤ acts	nis one		7
	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces	C This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces	$\nabla$		Nut	rition Fa	O∏h acts ⊭5pie	nis one	• \	7
	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 2	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3			Nut Ser	rition Fa ving size vings pe	O∏h acts acts rpacka	nis one ces age: 1	• \	7
	Voti ate the <u>whole package</u> . (Sele     O This one     Nutrition Facts     Serving size: 5 pieces     Servings per package: 2     Amount per serving	Ct only one) This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving			Nuti Serv Serv	rition Fa /ing size /ings pe punt pe	O∏h acts ∷5pie rpacka rservin	nis one ces nge: 1	, \	7
	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 2 Amount per serving Calories 100	C This one This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories	200		Nut Ser Ser Ame	rition Fa ving size vings pe punt pe pries	O Th acts ∷5 pie r packa r servin	ces ge: 1	100	7
	O     This one     O       Nutrition Facts     Serving size: 5 pieces       Servings per package: 2       Amount per serving       Calories     100       Calories from Fat     45	C This one This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories from Fat	200 90		Nuti Serv Serv Calo Calo	rition Fa ving size vings pe ount pe pries pries from	OTh acts : 5 pie r packa r servin m Fat	nis one ces nge: 1 ng	100	7
	Vutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 2 Amount per serving Calories 100 Calories from Fat 45 % Daily Value	C This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories from Fat % Da	200 90 iily Value		Nut Serv Ame Cale	rition Fa ving size vings pe ount pe ories pries from	O Th acts ∷5 pie r packa r servin m Fat	nis one ces nge: 1 ng %	100 45 Daily Va	alue
	O     This one     O       Nutrition Facts       Serving size: 5 pieces       Servings per package: 2       Amount per serving       Calories     100       Calories from Fat     45       % Daily Value       Total Fat 5 g     8%	C This one This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories Calories from Fat % Da Total Fat 10 g	200 90 iily Value 15%		Nuti Sen Sen Calo Calo	rition Fa ving size vings pe punt pe pries pries from al Fat 5	O∏h acts : 5 pie r packa r servin m Fat	nis one ces age: 1 ng %	100 45 Daily Va 8%	alue
	O     This one       O     This one       Nutrition Facts       Serving size: 5 pieces       Servings per package: 2       Amount per serving       Calories     100       Calories from Fat     45       % Daily Value       Total Fat 5 g     8%       Cholesterol 0 mg     0%	C This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories from Fat % Da Total Fat 10 g Cholesterol 0 mg	200 90 iily Value 15% 0%		Nuti Sen Amo Calo Calo Tota	rition Fa ving size ount pe ories ories from al Fat 5 lestero	OTh acts : 5 pie r packa r servin m Fat g I 0 mg	nisone ces age: 1 ng %	100 45 Daily V2 8% 0%	alue
19	O This one       O This one         Nutrition Facts         Serving size: 5 pieces         Servings per package: 2         Amount per serving         Calories       100         Calories from Fat       45         % Daily Value         Total Fat 5 g       8%         Cholesterol 0 mg       0%         O. Look at the amount of sugar on easy sugar if you ate the whole package	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories from Fat % Da Total Fat 10 g Cholesterol 0 mg ach label. Select the foo <u>e</u> . (select only one)	200 90 nily Value 15% 0%	that w	Nut Sen Sen Calo Calo Tot: Cho	rition Fa ving size vings pe point pe pories pories from al Fat 5 viestero rovide	OTh acts : 5 pie r packa r servin m Fat g I 0 mg the <u>le</u>	nis one ces nge: 1 ng % I	100 45 Daily V2 8% 0%	alue
19	O This one	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories from Fat % Da Total Fat 10 g Cholesterol 0 mg ach label. Select the foo <u>e</u> . (select only one) O This one	200 90 iily Value 15% 0%	that w	Nut Sen Calc Calc Calc Tota Cho	rition Fa ring size vings pe punt pe pries pries fro al Fat 5 lestero rovide	OTh acts :5 pie r packa r servin m Fat g I0 mg the <u>le</u> OTh	nis one oes nge: 1 ng %   wast an	100 45 Daily Va 8% 0%	alue
19	Voti ate the <u>whole package</u> . (Sele     O This one     Nutrition Facts     Serving size: 5 pieces     Servings per package: 2     Amount per serving     Calories 100     Calories from Fat 45     % Daily Value     Total Fat 5 g 8%     Cholesterol 0 mg 0%     O. Look at the amount of sugar on ea     sugar if you ate the <u>whole package     O This one     Nutrition Facts     Nutrition Facts </u>	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories from Fat % Da Total Fat 10 g Cholesterol 0 mg ach label. Select the foo (e). (select only one) O This one Nutrition Facts	200 90 iily Value 15% 0% od label	that w	Nut Sen Calc Calc Tot: Cho rould p	rition Fa ring size rings pe ount pe ories rites from al Fat 5 riestero rovide	OTh acts : 5 pie r packa r servin m Fat g I 0 mg the <u>le</u> OTh acts	nis one ces age: 1 ng %   cast an	100 45 Daily Va 8% 0% nount (	alue
19	Voti ate the <u>whole package</u> . (Sele     O This one     Nutrition Facts     Serving size: 5 pieces     Servings per package: 2     Amount per serving     Calories 100     Calories from Fat 45	O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 3 Amount per serving Calories Calories from Fat % Da Total Fat 10 g Cholesterol 0 mg ach label. Select the foo <u>e</u> . (select only one) O This one Nutrition Facts Serving size: 12 oz	200 90 aily Value 15% 0% od label	that w	Nut Sen Calc Calc Calc Calc Cho Dould p	rition Fa ring size rings pe portes portes portes from the al Fat 5 restero rovide rition Fa rition Fa	OTh acts : 5 pie r packa r servin m Fat g 1 0 mg the <u>le</u> OTh acts : 12 oz	nis one oces nge: 1 ng % I wast an nis one	100 45 Daily V2 8% 0% nount (	alue of

Amount per serving Amount per serving Amount per serving Calories Calories Calories 152 152 Calories from Fat 0 Calories from Fat 0 Calories from Fat % Daily Value % Daily Value Total carbohydrate 38 g 13% Total carbohydrate 38 g 13% Total carbohydrate 38 g Dietary fiber 0 g 0% Dietary fiber 0 g 0% Dietary fiber 38 g Sugars 38 g Sugars Sugars

Page 2 of 4

Please continue on the next page.  $\Rightarrow$ 

152

0

% Daily Value

13%

0%

0 g

38 g

20. I usually do a total amount of physical activity each day for:

O 1 hour or more O 30 to 45 minutes O Less than 30 minutes O I hardly ever exercise

21. How many hours per day do you usually spend on the computer away from school? (Include time spent surfing the internet and instant messaging or texting on a cell phone.) O 6 hours or more O 5 hours O 4 hours O 3 hours O 1 hour C Less than 1 hour O 2 hours 22. How many hours per day do you usually spend watching TV or video movies away from school? O 6 hours or more O 5 hours O 4 hours O 3 hours O 2 hours O 1 hour O Less than 1 hour 23. How many hours per day do you usually spend playing video games like Nintendo®, Sega®, Play Station®, Xbox®, GameBoy® or arcade games away from school? (Don't include time you spend playing a physically active game like Dance Dance Revolution®, Wii® sports games or Wii Fit®.) O 6 hours or more O 5 hours O 4 hours O 3 hours O 2 hours O 1 hour C Less than 1 hour 24. Think about the past week and please select one of the boxes for each meal that fits the number of times you eat each of the following meals at home with at least one other member of your family: 0 times 1 time 2 times 3 times 4 times 5 times 6 times 7 times this week Breakfast 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Lunch 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Dinner 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 Not No Yes Sure 25. In the past week, have you talked with any member of your family about eating 0 Ο 0 healthier foods? 26. In the past week, have you given any member of your family an idea for a new 0 0 0 snack? 27. In the past week, have you helped plan or cook any meals for your family? Ο 0 0 28. In the past week, have you done any physical activities with at least one other 0 0 0 member of your family? Almost done, just one more page. Page 3 of 4

In the past week did you have	Yes	No	Not Sure
29. Fresh, frozen, canned, or dried fruit available for you to eat in your home?	0	0	0
30. Fresh frozen, or canned vegetables available for you to eat in your home?	0	0	0
31. Cut up fresh vegetables on a shelf in the refrigerator?	0	0	0
32. Yogurt in your home?	0	0	0
33. Milk in your home?	0	0	0
34. Cheese in your home?	0	0	0
35. Cookies, pies, cakes, or snack cakes in your home?	0	0	0
36. Chips in your home?	0	0	0
37. Ice cream or frozen yogurt in your home?	0	0	0
38. Granola or breakfast bars in your home?	0	0	0
39. TV dinners, frozen dinners, chicken nuggets, or fish sticks in your home?	0	0	0
40. Hot dogs or bologna in your home?	0	0	0
41. Oatmeal in your home?	0	0	0
42. Whole grain cold cereal in your home?	0	0	0
43. Cold cereal that isn't whole grain in your home?	0	0	0
44. Whole grain bread in your home?	0	0	0
45. Donuts, sweet rolls, or muffins in your home?	0	0	0

Note: Questions 5-13, 15-18 and 20-23 are adapted from the School, Physical Activity and Nutrition Survey (SPAN) tool. Questions 25-45 are adapted from the GEMS Food Availability Questionnaires, Bar-



# End of Survey Thank You



KidQuest (Fitness, Food and Fun). Copyright © by South Dakota State University Cooperative Extension Service. These materials may be copied for educational purposes only. For information, contact SDSU CES, Brookings, SD 605-688-5131. Parent survey revised September, 2009. Reviewed by: Becky Jensen, MS, RD, LN, Terri Kemmer, PhD, RD, Suzanne Stluka, MS, RD, LN, and Karen Beranek, MS.

Page 4 of 4

South Dakota State University, South Dakota counties, and USDA cooperating. South Dakota State University adheres to AA/EEO guidelines in offering educational programs and services.

## Appendix B

CALL CONSTRUCTION	ł Youth Nutrition an	(idQuest d Physica	al Activity	Survey
Charles D	Name of School:		Pre-survey	,
Name:	Today's date:		1 year surve	ey
1. What month were you born? (ci	rcle one) Jan Feb March April	May June J	uly Aug Sept	Oct Nov Dec
Date you were born? (circle one	e) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 18 19 20 21 22 23	9 10 11 24 25 26	12 13 14 27 28 29	15 16 17 30 31
What year were you born? (plea	ase write in the year)			
2. What grade are you in? (circle of	one) 4th 5th 6th 7th 8	3th 9th 10	)th 11th 12	2th
3. Are you a boy or a girl?	4. How do you describe yourse	lf? (fill in only	one)	
O Boy	O White, non-Hispanic, non-Latin	o O Ameri	can Indian 🛛 🔿	Asian
O Girl	O Black or African American	O Alaska	a Native O	Other
	O Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islan	nder O Mexic	an American, La	tino or Hispanic
			4 2	2 or MORE
These questions are a	bout YESTERDAY.	None T		
These questions are a           5. Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?	you eat or drink: cheese,	None T		
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers?	None T O		
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juic)</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.)	None         T           0         0           0         0           0         0		
<ul> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>5. Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>6. Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> <li>7. Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juic)</li> <li>8. Yesterday, how many times did</li> </ul>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice?	None         T           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0		
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juic)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or	None         T           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0           0         0		
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juice</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fruit</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or you drink any regular pop (not drinks, or other fruit-flavored it juice or flavored water.)	None         T           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1           0         1		
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or mik?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grain</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juic)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fruing)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fruing)</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or you drink any regular pop (not drinks, or other fruit-flavored it juice or flavored water.) you eat French fries or chips? ps, or other snack chips)	None     T       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1		
<ol> <li>These questions are a</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did cottage cheese, yogurt or milk?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did whole grain bread, or whole grai</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned fruit? (Do not count juice</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did canned vegetables?</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did diet), punch, Kool-Aid®, sports of drinks? (Do not count 100% fruit)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did dinks? (Do not count 100% fruit)</li> <li>Yesterday, how many times did (Include potato chips, tortilla chi rolls, doughnuts, cookies, brown</li> </ol>	you eat or drink: cheese, you eat whole grain cereal, in crackers? you eat fresh, frozen, dried or e.) you drink 100% fruit juice? you eat fresh, frozen, or you drink any regular pop (not drinks, or other fruit-flavored it juice or flavored water.) you eat French fries or chips? ps, or other snack chips) you eat ice-cream, sweet nies, pies or cakes?	None     T       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1       0     1		

Page 1 of 4

Please continue on the next page.  $\square >$ 

14. How many days per week do you	usually eat breakfast?	0 days ( O	1 day d ⊖	23 laysdays OO	4 days O	5 days O	6 days O	7 days O	
15. From which food group should you eat the fewest servings each day?									
O Breads, cereals, rice, pasta	Vegetables O F	ruits	C	Dairy Pr	oducts	(milk,	chees	se)	
<ul> <li>Meats, fish, poultry, beans,</li> <li>Fats, oils, sweets</li> <li>I don't know</li> <li>eggs, nuts</li> </ul>									
16. How many total servings of fruits	and vegetables should y	ou eat e	ach da	iy?					
O At least 2 O At least 3 O At least 4 O At least 5 O I don't know									
17. In the past week, have you used the healthy choice or a food you should be a straight the second	he Nutrition Facts food la ld eat less of?	ibel to he	elp you	ı decide if t	he foo	d you	eat is	а	
O Yes O No	O Not Sure								
18. Look at the amount of fat on each label. Select the food label that would provide the <u>least amount of fat if</u> you ate the <u>whole package</u> . (select only one)									
V Nutrition Facts	Nutrition Facts	v		Nutrition F	acts		V		
Serving size: 5 pieces	Serving size: 5 pieces	Serving size: 5 pieces			Serving size: 5 pieces				
Servings per package: 2	Servings per package: 3			Servings per package: 1					
Amount per serving	Amount per serving			Amount pe	r servin	g			
Calories 100	Calories	200		Calories			100		
Calories from Fat 45	Calories from Fat	90		Calories fro	m Fat		45		
% Daily Value	% Dai	ly Value				% [	Daily Va	lue	
Total Fat 5g 8%	Total Fat 10 g	15%		Total Fat 5	g		8%		
Cholesterol 0 mg 0%	Cholesterol 0 mg	0%		Cholestero	I0 mg		0%		
19. Look at the amount of sugar on ea <u>sugar</u> if you ate the <u>whole packag</u>	ach label. Select the foor e. (select only one)	d label th	nat wou	uld provide	the <u>le</u>	ast an	nount o	<u>of</u>	
O This one	O This one	$\bigtriangledown$			O Th	is one	$\sim$	7	
Nutrition Facts	Nutrition Facts			Nutrition F	acts				
Serving size: 12 oz	Serving size: 12 oz			Serving size	: 12 oz	:			
Servings per package: 1.0	Servings per package: 2.5			Servings pe	r packa	ge: 2.0			
Amount per serving	Amount per serving			Amount pe	r servin	g			
Calories 152	Calories	152		Calories			15	2	
Calories from Fat 0	Calories from Fat	0		Calories fro	m Fat		0		

O This one			0	I his one		O This one				
Nutrition Facts			Nutrition Facts			Nutrition Facts				
Serving size: 12	2 oz		Serving size: 12	2 oz		Serving size: 12 oz				
Servings per package: 1.0			Servings per package: 2.5			Servings per package: 2.0				
Amount per serving			Amount per se	rving		Amount per se	rving			
Calories 152		Calories 152			Calories		152			
Calories from Fa	at	0	Calories from Fa	Calories from Fat 0			Calories from Fat 0			
		% Daily Value			% Daily Value			% Daily Value		
Total carbohydra	ate 38 g	13%	Total carbohydra	ite 38 g	13%	Total carbohydra	ate 38 g	13%		
Dietary fiber	0 g	0%	Dietary fiber	0 g	0%	Dietary fiber	0 g	0%		
Sugars	38 g		Sugars	38 g		Sugars	38 g			
			Bla		antinua an	the next n				

Page 2 of 4

Please continue on the next page.  $\square$
20. Think about the past week and please select one of the boxes for each meal that fits the number of times you eat each of the following meals <u>at home with at least one other member of your family</u>:

	0 times this week	1 time this week	2 times this week	3 times this week	4 times this week	5 times this week	6 times this week	7 times this week
	$\bigtriangledown$	$\bigtriangledown$	$\bigtriangledown$	$\bigtriangledown$	$\bigtriangledown$	$\bigtriangledown$	$\bigtriangledown$	$\bigtriangledown$
Breakfast	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Lunch (noon meal)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Dinner (supper)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

In the past week	Yes	No	Not Sure
21. Have you talked with any member of your family about eating healthier foods?	0	0	0
22. Have you given any member of your family an idea for a new snack?	0	0	0
23. Have you helped plan or cook any meals for your family?	0	0	0
24. Have you done any physical activities with at least one other member of your family?	0	0	0

## Almost done, just one more page.



In the past week did you have	Yes	No	Not Sure
25. Fresh, frozen, canned, or dried fruit available for you to eat in your home?	0	0	0
26. Fresh frozen, or canned vegetables available for you to eat in your home?	0	0	0
27. Cut up fresh vegetables on a shelf in the refrigerator?	0	0	0
28. Yogurt in your home?	0	0	0
29. Milk in your home?	0	0	0
30. Cheese in your home?	0	0	0
31. Cookies, pies, cakes, or snack cakes in your home?	0	0	0
32. Chips in your home?	0	0	0
33. Ice cream or frozen yogurt in your home?	0	0	0
34. Granola or breakfast bars in your home?	0	0	0
35. TV dinners, frozen dinners, chicken nuggets, or fish sticks in your home?	0	0	0
36. Hot dogs or bologna in your home?	0	0	0
37. Oatmeal in your home?	0	0	0
38. Whole grain cold cereal in your home?	0	0	0
39. Cold cereal that isn't whole grain in your home?	0	0	0
40. Whole grain bread in your home?	0	0	0
41. Donuts, sweet rolls, or muffins in your home?	0	0	0

Note: Questions 5-13, 15-18 and 20-23 are adapted from the School, Physical Activity and Nutrition Survey (SPAN) tool. Questions 25-45 are adapted from the GEMS Food Availability Questionnaires,



## End of Survey Thank You



KidQuest (Fitness, Food and Fun). Copyright © by South Dakota State University Cooperative Extension Service. These materials may be copied for educational purposes only. For information, contact SDSU CES, Brookings, SD 605-688-5131. Parent survey revised September, 2009. Reviewed by: Becky Jensen, MS, RD, LN, Terri Kemmer, PhD, RD, Suzanne Stluka, MS, RD, LN, and Karen Beranek, MS.

Page 4 of 4

South Dakota State University, South Dakota counties, and USDA cooperating. South Dakota State University adheres to AA/EEO guidelines in offering educational programs and services.

## Appendix C

KidQuest Youth Survey Name of School: ID Code: Name:		O O O Today's Date:	Pre-Survey Post-Survey 12 month S	/ urvey
Questions al	oout yourself.			
1. Are you a boy or a girl? O Boy or O Girl				
2. Month you were born ?(circle one) Jan Feb March Apr Date you were born? (circle one) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 23 24 25 26 27 2 Write in the year you were born:	il May June July Aug 9 10 11 12 13 14 28 29 30 31	g Sept Oct 15 16 17	Nov Dec 18 19 20	21 22
3. How do you describe yourself? (select all that apply)				
O White, not-Hispanic, not-Latino O American	Indian O Asian			
O Black or African American O Alaska Na	itive O Hawa	iian or Pacific	Islander	
O Mexican American, Latino or Hispanic O Other	O Two o	or more races		
Questions about the type	s of food eaten yesterd	ay.		
				3 or
	NONE			MORE
A Vesterday, how many times did you drink milk?	NONE	1 111VIE	2 TIMES	TIMES
4. Testerday, now many times did you drink mike	<u> </u>	0	0	0
5. Yesterday, now many times did you eat cheese?	0	0	0	0
6. Yesterday, how many times did you eat or drink yogurt?	0	0	0	0
<ol><li>Yesterday, how many times did you eat fresh, frozen, drie fruit (do not count fruit juice)?</li></ol>	ed or canned O	0	0	0
8. Yesterday how many times did you drink 100% juice?	0	0	0	0
9. Yesterday, how many times did you eat fresh, frozen, or o vegetables?	canned O	0	0	0
10. Yesterday, how many times did you eat whole grain cere grain bread, or whole grain crackers (where whole grain is the ingredient listed)?	al, whole ne 1st or 2nd 🛛 🔾	0	0	0
11. Yesterday, how many times did you drink any regular po punch, kool-aid, sports drinks, or other fruit-flavored drinks count 100% fruit juice or low calorie flavored water)	op (not diet), O (do not O	0	0	0
<ol> <li>Yesterday, how many times did you eat french fries or c (include potato chips, tortilla chips, or other snack chips)</li> </ol>	hips? O	0	0	0
11. Yesterday, how many times did you eat ice-cream, swee doughnuts, cookies, brownies, pies or cakes?	et rolls, O	0	0	0
12. Yesterday, how many times did you eat any type of can	ly? O	0	0	0
Questions ab	out breakfast.			
13. How many days per week do you usually eat breakfast?				
O 0 days O 1 day O 2 days O 3 days O 4 days	O 5 days O 6 days	s O 7 days		
14. If you skip breakfast, what is the reason you skip breakfa	ast? (fill in one or more	choices that I	est fit your	reasons)
O does not apply to me because I don't skip breakfast	O no time	O trying t	o lose weigh	t
O I'm not hungry at breakfast time	O nothing to eat	O I don't	know	
PAGE ONE	Please co	ontinue on th	e next page.	

- 15. Look at the amount of fat on each label. Select the food label that would provide theLEAST amount of FAT if you
- ate the WHOLE PACKAGE. (select only one) 0

Nutrition Facts			
Serving size: 5 pieces			
Servings per pa	ackage: 2		
Amount per serving			
Calories 100			
Calories from Fat 45			
	9	% Daily Value	
Total Fat	5 g	8%	
Cholesterol	0 mg	0%	

100

45 % Daily Value

8%

0%

0	Nutrition Facts		
	Serving size: 9	5 pieces	
	Servings per p		
	Amount per s		
	Calories		200
	Calories from	Fat	90
			% Daily Value
	Total Fat	10 g	15%
	Cholesterol	0 mg	0%
	choicateror	0 mg	070
	enoiesteror	ong	0,0
0	Nutrition Fact	s	0,0
0	Nutrition Fact	s 5 pieces	0,0
0	Nutrition Fact Serving size: 5 Servings per p	s 5 pieces ackage: 4	0,0
0	Nutrition Fact Serving size: 5 Servings per p Amount per s	5 pieces ackage: 4 erving	
•	Nutrition Fact Serving size: Servings per p Amount per s Calories	5 pieces ackage: 4 erving	300
•	Nutrition Fact Serving size: 4 Servings per p Amount per s Calories Calories from	5 pieces 5 pieces ackage: 4 erving Fat	300 60
0	Nutrition Fact Serving size: 5 Servings per p Amount per s Calories Calories from	s 5 pieces ackage: 4 erving Fat	300 60 % Daily Value

0 mg

0%

16. Look ate the amount of sugar on each label. Select the food label that would provide theLEAST amount of SUGAR if you ate the WHOLE PACKAGE. (select only one)

Cholesterol

0

Nutrition Facts Serving size: 5 pieces Servings per package: 1 Amount per serving

Calories

Total Fat

Cholesterol

Calories from Fat

0

Nutrition Facts		
Serving size: 12	oz	
Servings per pa	ckage:	1
Amount per ser	ving	
Calories		152
Calories from Fa	at	0
		% Daily Value
Total		
Carbohydrate	38 g	13%
Dietary Fiber	0 g	0%
Sugars	38 g	

5 g

0 mg

0	Nutrition Facts		
	Serving size: 12		
	Servings per pa	ckage: 2.5	
	Amount per ser	ving	
	Calories		152
	Calories from Fa	at	0
			% Daily Value
	Total		
	Carbohydrate	38 g	13%
	<b>Dietary Fiber</b>	0 g	0%
	Sugars	38 g	
		<u> </u>	

Nutrition Facts 0 Serving size: 12 oz

Servings per package: 2				
Amount per serving				
Calories		152		
Calories from Fa	at	0		
% Daily Value				
Total				
Carbohydrate	38 g	13%		
Dietary Fiber	0 g	0%		
Sugars	38 g			

0	Nutrition Facts			
	Serving size: 12			
	Servings per pa	ckage: 4		
	Amount per ser	ving		
	Calories		152	
	Calories from Fa	at	0	
			% Daily Value	
	Total			
	Carbohydrate	38 g	13%	
	Dietary Fiber	0 g	0%	
	Sugars	38 g		

PAGE TWO

Please continue on the next page.

Questions about dietary guidelines and use of the food label.
17. How many total cups of fruits and vegetables combined should you eat each day?
O less than 2 cups O at least 2 cups O at least 3 cups O at least 4 cups O I don't know
18. From which food group should you eat the FEWEST servings each day?
O breads, cereals, rice, pasta O vegetables O fruits
O milk, yogurt, cheese O fats, oils, sweets O I don't know
19. In the past week, have you used the Nutrition Facts food label to help you decide if the food you eat is a healthy
choice or a food you should eat less of?
O Yes O No O Not Sure
Questions about physical activity and screen time.
20. In the past week, how many total minutes of physical activity have you usually done each day?
(include any type of physical activity like walking, playing sports, riding bike, throwing frisbee, etc.)
O Less than 30 minutes O 30 to 45 minutes O 1 hour or more
21. In the past week, how many hours per day have you usually spent on the computer away from school? (include time
spent surfing the internet and instant messaging or texting on a cell phone)
O 6 hours of more O 5 hours O 4 hours O 3 hours O 2 hours O 1 hour O Less than 1 hour
22. Do you have a 1V in your bedroom? O Yes O No
23. In the past week, how many hours per day have you usually spent watching TV or video movies away from school?
O 6 hours or more O 5 hours O 4 hours O 3 hours O 2 hours O 1 hour O Less than 1 hour
24. In the past week, how many hours per day have you usually spent playing video games away from school? (don't include time you spend playing a physically active game like Dance Revolution®, Wii® sports games or Wii Fit®)
O 6 hours or more O 5 hours O 4 hours O 3 hours O 2 hours O 1 hour O Less than 1 hour
25. In the past week, how often have you done any physical activity with at least one other adult member of your
household?
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns.
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner)
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store minimart fast food restaurant sit
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch)
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch)
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None
household?       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None         Questions about meal patterns.       26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner)       O none       O 1 to 2       O 3 to 4       O 5 to 6       O 7 or more         27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch)       O none       O 1 to 2 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 5 to 6 times       O 7 or more times         28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school?       O 5 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None         29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school?       O 5 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None         29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school?       O 5 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None
household?       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None         Questions about meal patterns.       26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner)       O none       O 1 to 2       O 3 to 4       O 5 to 6       O 7 or more         27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch)       O none       O 1 to 2 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 5 to 6 times       O 7 or more times         28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school?       O 5 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None         29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school?       O 5 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None         30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home?       O 5 times       O 3 to 4 times       O 1 to 2 times       O None
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 31. In the past week, how often have you talked with any member of your family about eating healthier foods?
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 31. In the past week, how often have you talked with any member of your family about eating healthier foods? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 31. In the past week, how often have you talked with any member of your family about eating healthier foods? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 32. In the past week how often have you given any member of your family an idea for a healthier spark to have
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 31. In the past week, how often have you talked with any member of your family about eating healthier foods? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 32. In the past week, how often have you given any member of your family an idea for a healthier snack to have available?
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 31. In the past week, how often have you talked with any member of your family about eating healthier foods? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 32. In the past week, how often have you given any member of your family an idea for a healthier snack to have available? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None
household? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None Questions about meal patterns. 26. How many meals have you eaten with at least one other member of your household in the past week? (include all mealtimes; breakfast, lunch and dinner) O none O 1 to 2 O 3 to 4 O 5 to 6 O 7 or more 27. How often in the past week has your family ordered a meal at a gas station store, mini-mart, fast food restaurant, sit down restaurant or take out/home delivery? (don't include school breakfast or school lunch) O none O 1 to 2 times O 3 to 4 times O 5 to 6 times O 7 or more times 28. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the breakfast prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 29. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you eat the lunch prepared by the school? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 30. During your most recent full week of school, how often did you bring your lunch from home? O 5 times O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 31. In the past week, how often have you talked with any member of your family about eating healthier foods? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 32. In the past week, how often have you given any member of your family an idea for a healthier snack to have available? O 5 times or more O 3 to 4 times O 1 to 2 times O None 33. In the past week, how often have you helped plan or cook any meals for you and/or your family?

PAGE THREE

Please continue on the next page.

Questions about weight perception			
34. How do you feel about your own weight?			
O I am worried that I am underweight			
O I am worried that I am overweight			
O I am not worried about my weight			
35. Which statement best describes your own weight?			
O Very underweight O About right O Overweight O Obese (very overweight)			
Questions about sleeping patterns			
36. What is your usual bedtime on <b>weeknights</b> ? (write in the time)			
37. What is your usual bedtime on weekends? (write in the time)			
38. What time do you usually wake up on weekdays? (write in the time)			
39. What time do you usually wake up on weekends? (write in the time)			
40. How often do you usually feel very tired during the school day?			
O Always O Often O Sometimes O Hardly Ever O Never			
41. How often do you usually feel very tired during the weekend?			
O Always O Often O Sometimes O Hardly Ever O Never			

End of Survey - Thank You

Note: Questions 5-12 adapted from the School, Physical Activity and Nutrition Survey (SPAN) tool.

KidQuest (Fitness, Food and Fun). South Dakota State university Cooperative Extension Service. These materials may be copied for educational purposes only. Revised October 2011.



South Dakota State University, South Dakota counties, and USDA cooperating. South Dakota State University adheres to AA/EEO guidelines in offering educational programs and services.

PAGE FOUR

(Form: H1) File Name: KidQuest 2011.Youth Survey



Figure 1 Flow chart of the study 1 participants.



Figure 2 Flow chart of the study 2 participants.